**BIRTE TORNØE** The child with tension-type headache 1 Physical factors and interactive interventions

The child with tension-type headache

Physical factors and interactive interventions

BIRTE TORNØE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SCIENCES | LUND UNIVERSITY



Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:89 ISBN 978-91-7619-018-0 ISSN 1652-8220 Department of Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden, 2014

## The child with tension-type headache

### Physical factors and interactive interventions



### by

### Birte Tornøe

#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Health Science Centre, SSSH-salen. Friday 5<sup>th</sup> of September 2014 at 13.00.

Faculty opponent

Elisabeth Hall, Professor Emerita Aarhus University, Department of Public Health, Institute of Science in Nursing

| Organization  | Document name                           |                            |  |
|---|---|----------------------------|--|
| LUND UNIVERSITY   | DOCTORAL DISSERTATION                   |                            |  |
| P.O.Box 157   |   |                            |  |
| SE-221 00 LUND  |   | ×                          |  |
| SWEDEN  | Date of issue 5 <sup>th</sup> of Septer | mber 2014                  |  |
|   |   |                            |  |
| Author: Birte Tornøe  | Sponsoring organization                 |                            |  |
| The child with tension-type headache. Physical factors and  | interactive interventions               |                            |  |
| Abstract<br>Tension-type headache (TTH) in children and especially girls is a prevalent problem worldwide, and means there is a risk of school<br>absenteeism, medication overuse and persistent headache. Knowledge about the associated physical factors is limited, as is knowledge on<br>evidence based interventions.  |   |                            |  |
| Furthermore to examine aspects of interactive interventions as empower  | ing patient education studying whe      | ere and how to direct      |  |
| evidence based interventions.<br>Aim : The overall aim of this thesis was to examine the associations of physical factors with frequent or chronic TTH in children.<br>Furthermore to examine aspects of interactive interventions as empowering patient education studying where and how to direct<br>interdisciplinary headache services for the child and parents from the perspective of the child and parents and to gauge whether a large-<br>scale controlled trial was warranted. The second study aimed at determining the test-retest repeatability of neck-shoulder muscle strength in<br>healthy children 9-18 years of age. The second study aimed at determining the test-retest repeatability of the Total Tendemess Score (TTS) and of<br>a sub-maximal cycle ergometer test predicting maximal oxygen uptake. The third study was a case-control study aiming at examining the<br>combined measurements of muscle strength in the neck-shoulder region, aerobic power, and pericranial tendemess in girls 9 to 18 years of<br>age, and the measurements associations with frequent episodic or chronic TTH compared to healthy controls. The fourth study based on a<br>randomized controlled trial examined the outcomes of specific strength training of shoulder muscles compared with counselling with nurse<br>and physiotherapist in short defined patient education programmes for girls 9-18 years with TTH.<br><b>Results:</b> Results from study 1 indicated that a nine session course in computer-animated relaxation therapy seemed a significantly effective<br>learning strategy presenting a mean improvement percent of 45% of headache frequency. The children expressed a growing understanding of<br>body reactions and an acquired ability to deactivate and regulate these reactions. The study also inficant association between<br>reduced shoulder and neck strength and headache. There was likewise a significant association between<br>reduced shoulder and neck strength and headache. There was likewise a significant association between<br>reduced shoulder and neck strength and headache. There was likewise |   |                            |  |
| Key words: Empowering patient education, headache, child, health, neck and shoulder muscles,  |   |                            |  |
| muscular fitness, cardiovascular fitness and physiotherapy  |   |                            |  |
| Classification system and/or index terms (if any)   |   |                            |  |
| Supplementary bibliographical information   |   | Language: English          |  |
| ISSN and key title 1652-8220, Lund university, Faculty of Medicine.   |   | ISBN 978-91-7619-<br>018-0 |  |
| Recipient's notes   | Number of pages                         | Price                      |  |
|   | Commity alegaification                  |                            |  |
|   | Security classification                 |                            |  |

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Side Souge

Signature

\_\_\_\_Date 18<sup>th</sup> of June 2014

### The child with tension-type headache

Physical factors and interactive interventions

Birte Tornøe



Copyright © BirteTornøe

Faculty of Medicine Department of Health Science ISBN 978-91-7619-018-0 ISSN 1652-8220 Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:89

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014









### To my children Trine and Toke

"Above all, do not lose your desire to walk. Every day, I walk myself into a state of well-being and walk away from every illness. I have walked myself into my best thoughts, and I know of no thought so burdensome that one cannot walk away from it. But by sitting still, and the more one sits still, the closer one comes to feeling ill. Thus if one just keeps on walking, everything will be all right"

Danish philosopher Søren Kierkegaard, 1813-1855

## Contents

| Abstract  | 7                          |
|---|----------------------------|
| Abbreviations   | 9                          |
| List of papers  | 10                         |
| Thesis at a glance  | 11                         |
| Preface   | 12                         |
| General definitions   | 13                         |
| Introduction  | 17                         |
| Background  | 19                         |
| Main concepts<br>The child<br>Decision making in child health care service<br>Pain and health care service  | 19<br>19<br>20<br>21       |
| Empowering patient education as a theoretical frame   | 22                         |
| Knowledge about headache and interventions<br>Diagnosis and prevalence<br>Etiology and pain mechanisms<br>Standard headache service<br>Evidence of interventions<br>Physical activity, aerobic power and muscular fitness | 24<br>24<br>26<br>28<br>30 |
| Concluding limitations in research  | 32<br>33                   |
| Aims and objectives   | 35                         |
| Methods   | 37                         |
| Setting   | 37                         |
| Design  | 37                         |
| Participants  | 39                         |
| Data collection and procedures  | 42                         |
| Interventions   | 46                         |
| Statistical analyses  | 48                         |

| Ethical considerations                          | 51 |
|---|----|
| Life, health, dignity, integrity and equality   | 51 |
| Risks and burdens                               | 51 |
| Confidentiality, self-determination and justice | 52 |
| Results   | 53 |
| Characteristics of participants                 | 53 |
| Repeatability                                   | 55 |
| Associations with headache                      | 55 |
| Primary outcomes                                | 56 |
| Secondary outcomes                              | 56 |
| Discussion                                      | 59 |
| Methodological considerations                   | 59 |
| Hypothetico-deductive methodology               | 59 |
| Validity  | 60 |
| Validity in trials                              | 60 |
| Repeatability                                   | 62 |
| Errors in hypothesis testing                    | 63 |
| General discussion of results                   | 64 |
| Primary characteristics and outcomes            | 64 |
| Secondary outcomes                              | 65 |
| Results and empowering patient education, EPE   | 66 |
| General conclusions                             | 69 |
| Recommendations and future perspectives         | 71 |
| Summary in Danish                               | 73 |
| Acknowledgements                                | 75 |
| Reference List                                  | 77 |
| Appendix A                                      |    |
| Paper I - IV                                    |    |

### Abstract

Tension-type headache (TTH) in children and especially girls is a prevalent problem worldwide, and means there is a risk of school absenteeism, medication overuse and persistent headache. Knowledge about the associated physical factors is limited, as is knowledge on evidence based interventions.

The overall aim of this thesis was to examine the associations of physical factors with frequent or chronic TTH in children. Furthermore to examine aspects of interactive interventions as empowering patient education studying where and how to direct interdisciplinary headache services for the child and parents from the perspective of a physiotherapist.

The first study piloted computer-animated relaxation therapy with children 7-13 years of age and investigated how so young the children experienced the therapy. Furthermore it piloted enrolment procedures, the compliance of the child and parents and to gauge whether a large-scale controlled trial was warranted. The second study aimed at determining the test-retest repeatability of neck-shoulder muscle strength in healthy children 9-18 years of age. The second study also determined the test-retest repeatability of the Total Tenderness Score (TTS) and of a sub-maximal cycle ergometer test predicting maximal oxygen uptake. The third study was a case-control study aiming at examining the combined measurements of muscle strength in the neck-shoulder region, aerobic power, and pericranial tenderness in girls 9 to 18 years of age, and the measurements associations with frequent episodic or chronic TTH compared to healthy controls. The fourth study based on a randomized controlled trial examined the outcomes of specific strength training of shoulder muscles compared with counselling with nurse and physiotherapist in short defined patient education programmes for girls 9-18 years with TTH.

Results from study I indicated that a nine session course in computeranimated relaxation therapy seemed a significantly effective learning strategy presenting a mean improvement percent of 45% of headache frequency. The children expressed a growing understanding of body reactions and an acquired ability to deactivate and regulate these reactions. The study also elucidated the enrolment procedures and capacity of the clinic for the planning of the larger study. The results from study II found acceptable test-retest repeatability, providing a stable basis for the research in study III and IV. The main findings in study III were that girls with TTH had significantly higher pericranial tenderness than controls in correlation with headache frequency (r=0.66, p<0.001). Results indicated a significant association between reduced shoulder and neck strength and headache. There was likewise a significant association between reduced predicted VO<sub>2</sub>max and headache. From study IV the girls self-reported health related quality of life indicated experienced difficulties in physical health, emotional health and school functioning. The results showed a significant effect on headache frequency and duration from both strength training and counselling with no significant between group differences. During 22 weeks 33% of the girls had a headache reduction  $\geq$  30% and 26% reached a reduction of  $\geq$  50%. Both groups also seemed to benefit from exercising or body awareness with a significant reduction in neck extension/flexion ratio. Strength training showed a potential to increase strength and oxygen uptake. Perceived lack of time and/ or motivation constrained inclusion and caused dropouts.

As a conclusion the results highlight that physiotherapy plays a central role in headache services in educating the children in strategies to enhance health-related physical factors and body-awareness, reduce headache and thus improve their quality of life. Strength training or relaxation therapy in combination with interdisciplinary counselling will provide positive outcomes. As both relaxation therapy and strength training presented significant outcomes the use of these interventions should be decided by the physiotherapist, the child and parents after an evaluation of the child's individual needs. Interpreting the results within an empowering patient education we can summarize that the interventions and materials used in the studies were relevant and suitable for children 7-18 years of age. It is recommended to consider the relationship between weekly exercise intensity and exercise variation in order to keep a stable weekly exercise volume.

Motivation for change and the barriers the contemporary family, children and parents may experience in order to integrate learning and change habitual physical behaviours need to be examined. The organization of patient education is recommended to be considered innovatively in order to further reach the needs of the contemporary family. This thesis presents the dimensions of empowerment that are essential in relation to the child with TTH and their parents.

# Abbreviations

| Body awareness therapy                             | BAT                 |
|--|---------------------|
| Coefficient of variation in %                      | CV%                 |
| Confidence Interval                                | CI                  |
| Empowering Patient Education                       | EPE                 |
| Force steadiness                                   | FS                  |
| Health Related Quality Of Life                     | HRQOL               |
| International Classification of Headache Disorders | ICHD                |
| Maximal voluntary contraction                      | MVC                 |
| Metabolic equivalent of task                       | MET                 |
| Method error                                       | ME                  |
| Mean median frequency                              | MDF                 |
| Odds ratio   | OR                  |
| Per protocol                                       | РР                  |
| Predicted maximal oxygen uptake                    | VO <sub>2</sub> max |
| Rate of force development                          | RFD                 |
| Repetition maximum                                 | RM                  |
| Root mean square                                   | RMS                 |
| Surface electromyography                           | SEMG                |
| Tension-type headache                              | TTH                 |
| Total Tenderness Score                             | TTS                 |
| World Health Organization                          | WHO                 |
| World Confederation for Physical Therapy           | WCPT                |

## List of papers

This thesis for the doctoral degree is based on the following papers referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Tornoe B. & Skov L. Computer Animated Relaxation Therapy in Children between 7 and 13 Years with Tension-Type Headache: A Pilot Study. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback 2012; 37:35-44
- II Tornoe B., Andersen L.L., Skotte J.H., Jensen R., Gard G., Skov L., Hallström I. Test-retest repeatability of strength capacity, aerobic power and pericranial tenderness of neck and shoulder muscles in childrenrelevant for tension-type headache. Journal of Pain Research 2013; 6:1-9
- III Tornoe B., Andersen L.L., Skotte J.H., Jensen R., Gard G., Skov L., Hallström I. Reduced neck-shoulder muscle strength and aerobic power together with increased pericranial tenderness are associated with tensiontype headache in girls: A case-control study. Cephalalgia 2013; 34(7): 540-547
- IV Tornoe B., Andersen L.L., Skotte J., Jensen C., Madsen B.K., Jensen R., Gard G., Skov L., Hallström I. Specific strength training compared with interdisciplinary counselling for girls with tension-type headache- A randomized controlled trial. Submitted.

Published papers are reprinted with the kind permission of the respective journals.

# Thesis at a glance

| Study/<br>paper | Objectives   | Methods   | Results  | Conclusions  |
|-----------------|--|---|--|--|
| I               | To evaluate the effect of<br>computer-animated relaxation<br>therapy in children aged 7-13 and<br>to examine how the children<br>experienced the therapy.<br>To gauge the enrolment<br>procedures, clinic capacity and<br>the compliance of the child and<br>parents.  | N=9 children with<br>tension-type<br>headache (TTH),<br>(8 girls, 1 boy)<br>7-13 years<br>Pilot study-<br>descriptive and<br>before-after<br>intervention | The results showed a<br>mean improvement of<br>45% for headache<br>frequency at 3 months<br>follow up versus base-<br>line. The children<br>expressed a growing<br>understanding of body<br>reactions and an ability to<br>regulate these.   | Computer animated surface<br>electromyography (SEMG)<br>seems an applicable learning<br>strategy for young headache<br>sufferers. Dialogue and<br>guidance from a participant<br>observer is necessary to<br>achieve body awareness.   |
| Π               | To determine the test-retest<br>repeatability of isometric<br>maximal voluntary contraction<br>(MVC) and force steadiness (FS)<br>of neck flexion and extension.<br>MVC and rate of force<br>development (RFD) of shoulder<br>abduction. Total Tenderness<br>Score (TTS) and sub maximal<br>cycle ergometer test predicting<br>VO <sub>2</sub> max | N=25 healthy<br>children (15 girls,<br>10 boys)<br>9-18 years<br>Blinded<br>repeatability<br>study.   | Isometric MVC showed<br>acceptable repeatability<br>(ICC $0.90-0.97$ ). The<br>force steadiness revealed<br>a trend of systematic<br>changes and need further<br>examination. RFD, TTS,<br>and prediction of VO <sub>2</sub><br>max showed repeatability,<br>with ICC $0.80-0.87$ .  | The measurement of<br>strength capacity, aerobic<br>power, and tenderness<br>provide acceptable<br>repeatability suitable for<br>research in children  |
| III             | To examine the combined<br>measurements of muscle strength<br>in the neck-shoulder region,<br>aerobic power, and pericranial<br>tenderness (TTS) in girls from 9<br>to 18 years of age, and their<br>associations with frequent<br>episodic or chronic TTH<br>compared to healthy controls   | N=82, 41 girls<br>with TTH and 41<br>healthy girls<br>9-18 years<br>Blinded case-<br>control study  | Girls with TTH had<br>significantly higher TTS<br>than controls. The odds<br>ratio (OR) of girls having<br>headache is 7.6 for weak<br>to strong shoulder<br>muscles; OR 3.1 for weak<br>to average neck-shoulder<br>strength; OR 1.3 for neck<br>flexion strength; and OR<br>5.2 for each unit of<br>decrease in VO <sub>2</sub> max. | Reduced neck-shoulder<br>strength and aerobic power<br>together with increased<br>pericranial tenderness are<br>associated with TTH in<br>girls. Future interventions<br>should be directed towards<br>health promoting patient<br>educational programs on<br>enhanced physical<br>exercising.   |
| IV              | To examine the effects of specific<br>strength training compared with<br>counselling by nurse and<br>physiotherapist in short, defined<br>patient education programmes.  | N=49 girls with<br>TTH<br>9-18 years<br>Randomized<br>controlled trial  | Headache frequency<br>decreased significantly<br>p=0.001 and duration<br>p=0.022. The odds of<br>having headache a<br>random day decreased<br>during 22 weeks by 0.65<br>(0.50-0.84) (OR<br>(95%CI)). Neck<br>extension/flexion ratio<br>decreases to 1.7, indica-<br>ting a change in muscle<br>balance over the neck.                | Both strength training and<br>counselling lead to headache<br>reduction. Adjusting<br>muscle-balance seems to<br>precede strength gains.<br>Strength training might lead<br>to important changes in the<br>child's physical capability<br>and health. Restructuring<br>patient education and<br>examining dose-response of<br>exercising is recommended. |

## Preface

My interest in interdisciplinary pain management began in 2000-2003 while doing my master's degree in physiotherapy at Queen Margaret University in Edinburgh, Scotland. At that time professionals and evidence-based governmental guidelines in the UK focused on a biopsychosocial approach, with emphasis on educating pain sufferers about pain mechanisms and how to cope. What I encountered as an experienced paediatric physiotherapist inspired my subsequent work with children with headache in a tertiary headache clinic, where the present studies took place.

Children with frequent or chronic tension-type headache spend years of their childhood with this illness and I am pleased to be able to add to the knowledge on what patient education in headache service might be directed at and how. Furthermore it is my interest to provide evidence for practice in the clinic.

One of the challenges of empowering patient education is that it requires health care professionals to have both competences in learning strategies and knowledge about psychophysiological and neurological functions. Challenges likewise exist at the organizational level.

My hope is that this thesis has succeeded in contributing to the research that reflects these complex areas from a perspective of physiotherapy.

# General definitions

| Aerobic power      | Maximal aerobic power equals maximal oxygen<br>uptake and is a single measure of a) the maximal<br>energy output by aerobic processes, and b) the<br>functional capacity of circulation measured in<br>L x min <sup>-1</sup> (1). Physical performance is linked to<br>maximal oxygen uptake. Oxygen uptake is dependent<br>on cardiac output, the pulmonale system, oxygen<br>carrying systems, and muscle capacity. Oxygen uptake<br>is affected by heredity, sex, age, state of training, and<br>changes in altitude. Maximal oxygen uptake can be<br>either measured or estimated. The maximal oxygen<br>uptake of children is not as high as expected for their<br>size compared to adults, which means the child has a<br>lower efficacy (1). |
|--------------------|---|
| Case-control study | A case-control study studies a group with a disease<br>compared to a group without the disease in order to<br>examine associated factors (2).   |
| Family and parents | Family is defined by the American Academy of<br>Pediatrics, Task Force on the family, by a functional<br>definition. A family may comprise a child/children<br>living with a single parent, 2 parents, an adoptive<br>family, foster family or separated family. Parents<br>may be of opposite sex or same sex. Families are<br>diverse in relation to culture, ethnicity, sexual<br>orientation and religion. Family structure affects child<br>development (3).   |
| Health             | Health, as defined by the World Health Organization (WHO), is "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity". When these conditions are not fulfilled, individuals can then be considered to have an illness or to be ill (4).   |

| Interdisciplinary | Interdisciplinary is a widely used term parallel to multidisciplinary or interprofessional meaning that |
|-------------------|---|
|                   | two or more professions act together in a team  |
|                   | structure in order to conduct a goal directed counselling with a specific client and the ability to add |
|                   | other specialist areas if needed (5).   |

Intervention Intervention, by encyclopaedia, comes from the Latin word 'interventio' = intervene and in health care service it means influencing another person or group through dialogue and educational programmes.

Logistic regression analysis a sess the association or impact between a dichotomous outcome variable and several predictor variables calculated to odds ratios. The odds ratio (OR) represents the change in odds of being in one of the categories of outcome when the value of a predictor variable changes (increases or decreases) by one unit for continuous variables (6). In a case-control study the relative risk is approximated by the OR (2).

Measurement of healthrelated quality of life, HRQOL Patient self-reporting on his or her perception of health-related quality of life. "It is a multidimensional construct that reflects the interplay between disease and patient's subjective evaluation of his or her physical, social, and emotional functioning" (7).

Physical activity The WHO defines physical activity as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure (8). In 2004-2011, the WHO published a strategy on diet, physical activity, and health (9). Physical activity was listed as a key determinant of energy expenditure and thus fundamental to energy balance and health. Physical activity levels were for adults presented in METs (metabolic equivalent task) per week. One MET is defined as 1kcal/kg/h. One MET is equivalent to the energy/oxygen cost of sitting quietly. Physical activities and levels of intensity can be expressed in METs per hour per week. Physical activity levels for children were expressed in time.

| Physical<br>exercise/training     | Exercise is a subcategory of physical activity. Exercise<br>is physical activity that is planned, structured, repeti-<br>tive, and purposive in the sense that improvement or<br>maintenance of one or more components of physical<br>fitness is an objective (10).   |
|-----------------------------------|---|
| Physiotherapy/physical<br>therapy | The World Confederation for Physical Therapy<br>(WCPT) defines physical therapy as providing<br>services to individuals and populations to develop<br>maintain and restore maximum movement and<br>functional ability throughout the lifespan. Physical<br>therapy is concerned with identifying and maximizing<br>quality of life and movement potential within the<br>spheres of promotion, prevention, treatment/ inter-<br>vention, habilitation and rehabilitation; encompasses<br>physical, psychological, emotional and social well-<br>being. Functional movement is seen as central to what<br>it means to be healthy. (11). |
| RCT                               | In a randomized controlled trial study participants are<br>after assessment of eligibility randomly allocated<br>to receive either a new treatment or a control treat-<br>ment (12).  |

## Introduction

Children with headache exhibit an increasing health problem worldwide (13). A condition of frequent episodic or chronic tension type headache (TTH) is debilitating for a child, and might lead to absence from school, an undesirable use of medication (14) and an imprint on the child's developmental history.

Research in order to examine underlying pathophysiology of headache and the best practice of interventions is limited in children. Intriguing research conducted in the last 10-15 years in adults and adolescents with tension-type headache are substantial (15, 16) and could be a start point in the research with children suffering from headache. From this research we have attained an increased knowledge of the pathophysiological mechanisms concerning the sensitization of the peripheral and central nociceptive systems, a beginning understanding of chronic pain mechanism (17) and knowledge of the importance of preventing a frequent pain situation before it converges to a chronic stage. This is a highly important matter concerning children, but a likewise research is yet in its early stages.

Research concerning physical and muscular functions and pain in general as well as in headache is overall poorly understood for all age groups. In order to be able to plan the most relevant non-pharmacological prevention and service programs for both children and adults with TTH, research in these areas is important.

The main interest of the present thesis is to contribute to research knowledge of underlying physical factors and their possible association with a severe and chronic headache condition in children; and furthermore to examine aspects of interactive interventions leading to self-care.

## Background

The main perspective of this thesis is the child with TTH and aspects of developmental and ethical rights and needs are addressed. Then follow the descriptions of factual knowledge about headache and empowering patient education (EPE) aiming towards the specific objectives of the thesis.

### Main concepts

In order to present a clear and thorough description of the use of concepts as proposed by Persson & Sahlin (18) chapter 1, the background is introduced with expanded definitions and conceptions of main themes and frames.

#### The child

In research concerning children we have to address the question 'what is a child?' and 'what defines the child at different ages?' and how are children's understanding and explanations of illness? What are the legal rights of the child? The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child defines *a* 'child' as *"a person below the age of 18, unless the laws of a particular country set the legal age for adulthood younger"*(19). Bibace and Walsh and later Koopman (20, 21) described that the child's perception of illness follows the Piagets' categories of a child's cognitive development, and is here presented in a short version.

- 1 Prelogical explanations (2-6 years): This period is characterized by inability to distance themselves from their environment and explanations being dominated by their immediate spatial or temporal experiences and unable to explain cause and effect. The cause of illness is located in objects or people approximate but not touching the child.
- 2 Concrete logical explanations (7-11 years). The child now distinguishes between the cause and effect of illness, the cause being external and 'harmful'. Later the illness is located inside the body and cause may be outside. The body is described in vague and nonspecific terms.

3 Formal-logical explanations (>11 years). The child now understands and gives physiological explanations. A period of the greatest differentiation between self and others. The source and nature of illness lies in the physiological structures and functions. The child might now add a psychological dimension to the explanation of illness. The child is now aware that a person's thoughts and feelings can affect the body.

#### Decision making in child health care service

Children are vulnerable participants in health care and research, and the child's ability to participate is dependent on age, cognitive resources and influenced by the social/family environmental context. The child is protected by the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (19), where the child's right to grow and reach their potential is stressed. When making decisions that affect the child, the child has the right to be heard and to have his/her opinion taking into account. They have the right to share information by talking, drawing and writing. This means that even young children have the right to be informed and take part in decision-making giving assent as an interactive process (22) and it is up to the health care professionals to provide the information and communicate in a way that correspond with the child's developmental abilities.

Participation in decision making is determined by age levels and at 12 years of age the child is considered to be able to understand the procedures of informed consent. Children over 16 years are in the UK seen as 'Gillick competent' and can give consent to treatments if the person understands the information (Gillick v West Norfolk, 1985). In important matters the child's competences might be examined in order to determine the child's ability to understand. Competences are influenced by the cognitive developmental level and achieved learning (22). At the age of 18 the child has in most countries the legally right to informed consent and individually making decisions.

When a professional addresses a child in a health care program or research setting, both the child's developmental capacity and ethical needs must be taken into account in order to secure that the child understand the situation. The child's cognitive development influences the child's ability to understand the disease and receive education (20, 23). It is challenging for the child to manage self-care, which requires a combination of knowledge and skills and is related to age. The children therefore need support from the parents, family and other environments. The American Academy of Pediatrics Task Force on the family stated that a child's physical and emotional health and their cognitive and social functioning are strongly influenced by how well their families function (3). Figure 1 provides a figure of actors in the service to the child with TTH in the health care system.



Figure 1. Actors in the headache service to a child with TTH

#### Pain and health care service

Frequent or chronic TTH is a pain condition. Pain is defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage" (24). Frequent and chronic TTH is defined by the International Classification of Headache Disorders (ICHD) (25, 26). Pain and health care service are described in terms of the 1) organization and 2) service modalities.

Interactive interventions, counselling and empowering patient education (EPE) are concepts describing the relationship between the patient and the health provider. Interactive intervention means by encyclopaedia interventions based on human to human communication and/or human to computer communication. It comprises elements that empower an active learning situation. Counselling is widely used both in interdisciplinary and psychological interventions. *Counselling is aimed at producing constructive behavioural and/or personality change (27)*. Effective counselling includes that the counsellor employs interpersonal skills. Empathy, warmth and genuineness are central attributes of an effective counsellor. Warmth is related to both objectivity and involvement. The counsellor attitudes should be positive and tolerant rather than using advice and persuasion (27).

Patient education was defined at a common European meeting in Paris 1999 on the evolution and developments of patient education in the health care systems and stated as the following: "Patient education concerns all educational activities directed to patients, including aspects of therapeutic education, health education and clinical health promotion" (28). Standards or guidelines are not yet established and clinical practice guidelines are to be found within the literature for each separate disease such as for headache the British Association for the Study of Headache (29). Paediatric patient education has as defined by Feudtner (30) the purpose of increasing knowledge and skills leading to self-care. Learning results can be symptom reduction, reduction of psychosocial stress, enhanced decision making, satisfaction and quality of life.

### Empowering patient education as a theoretical frame

Empowerment in the clinical setting with children is closely linked to the rights of the child and the process of decision making. The concept of empowerment takes its out-spring in strategies for policy and social research in the 1960s and 1970s developing further in the 1980s (31). In the 1990s the concept of empowerment was examined as a strategy in health providing and nursing research (32).

Empowerment is a dynamic concept where power is both given, taken and shared (31, 32). Empowerment is a concept, fundamentally positive and defines either a process or an outcome. Certain assumptions are related to the use of empowerment in health care service: Health belongs to the individual and the individual has the prime responsibility for his/her health. The individual's capacity for growth and self-determination needs to be respected. Individuals have the ability to make decisions and act on their behalf if proper informed (32). In treatment settings it refers to equalizing the relationship between the patient and the health provider promoting shared decision making and equal power in the treatment situation as a collaborative process (32). This is strengthened through the dialogue, where the patient has the opportunity to recognize and gain knowledge of his own situation and disease (33), leading to greater self-efficacy, control and skills-development in order to be able to practice self-care (34).

Knowledge and power is closely related. Rappaport (35) defines empowerment as a process where people gain mastery over their own situation- a process of many forms. "Empowerment implies that many competencies are already present" and that we in the process of the clinical setting or social and community settings are seeking that "new competencies are learned in a context of living life, rather than being told what to do by experts".

According to research by Leino-Kilpi et al. (36) empowering patient education, EPE, can be used as a model to examine and evaluate patient education by seven dimensions visualized in a figure reflecting the patient/client's *needs and knowledge fields*. The seventh cognitive dimension was removed from the model in 2012, as to all learning is cognitively related. Considering the child is in a cognitive developmental process defined by steps, it was for this thesis found relevant to keep this dimension.

Physiotherapists as well as other professionals engaged in health care service require educational knowledge implying both competences in how to empower a learning process and how to facilitate an empowering learning outcome (37). The concept of EPE is useful as a guide to content, methodology, ethical considerations and how to evaluate patient education.

Child health care service from an empowerment perspective has to consider that different actors such as the child, the parents, the health providers and the organization are in play. Children and parents may have different needs and knowledge, which has to be incorporated in the interventions. Likewise health providers and the organization may have different needs and knowledge. Barriers might be clarified by the dimensions of EPE. Outcomes are evaluated on accomplished knowledge and skills. The seven dimensions of EPE by Leino-Kilpi et al. (36) are presented in Figure 2. Further descriptions are provided in the section of result discussion Table 8.



Figure 2. Seven dimensions of empowerment according to Leino-Kilpi et al. (36)

### Knowledge about headache and interventions

The following describes the diagnostic criteria, prevalence and etiology relevant for children with a frequent or chronic TTH. Finally interventions and health related physical factors are highlighted.

#### **Diagnosis and prevalence**

Bille was the first to report paediatric migraine epidemiology in 1962 (38). Repschlaeger & McPherson reports in 1984 about both migraine and TTH in adults (39). Carlsson examined as one of the first the prevalence of recurrent headache in schoolchildren 7-16 years of age in the Göteborg population 1993 and reported of 26% of the 1144 children having monthly headaches and 6% having frequent weekly headaches (40).

In the last decade 6-12 months prevalence of frequent episodic TTH (FETTH) and chronic TTH (CTTH) as primary headaches in children differs from 2-23% depending on age, sex and headache frequencies (Table 2, in the back of the thesis). TTH seems to develop around the age of 7 (13, 41), though it might be present under the age of 7 in both frequent episodic and chronic forms (42). The prevalence of TTH is found to be higher in girls worldwide (13, 43, 44) and increases with age (45, 46). Prevalence of headache in urban regions is found significantly higher than suburban or rural areas (44). Recurrent headache as a whole seems to have increased over time period from 1974 exemplified in Finnish or Turkish school children (47, 48).

The criteria for diagnosing TTH in children follow the adult criteria defined by the International Headache Society (IHS) updated in 2004 in ICHD-II (25) and in ICHD-III beta version 2013 (26). The criteria are listed in Table 1. **Table 1.** Diagnostic criteria for primary frequent episodic and chronic TTH according to ICHD-III (25, 26).

| Diagnose<br>criteria | Frequent episodic TTH 2.2<br>Associated with or without pericranial<br>tenderness   | Chronic TTH 2.3<br>Associated with or without pericranial<br>tenderness   |
|----------------------|---|---|
| Criteria A           | At least 10 episodes of headache<br>occurring ≥1 but <15 days per month for<br>>3 months and fulfilling B-D   | Headache occurring on $\geq 15$ days per<br>month on average for $>3$ months fulfilling<br>criteria B-D   |
| Criteria B           | Lasting from 30 min to 7 days   | Lasting hours to days, or unremitting   |
| Criteria C           | <ul> <li>At least 2 of the following four<br/>characteristics:</li> <li>bilateral location</li> <li>pressing or tightening (non pulsating)<br/>quality</li> <li>mild or moderate intensity</li> <li>not aggravated by routine physical<br/>activity such as walking or climbing<br/>stairs</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>At least 2 of the following four<br/>characteristics:</li> <li>bilateral location</li> <li>pressing or tightening (non pulsating)<br/>quality</li> <li>mild or moderate intensity</li> <li>not aggravated by routine physical<br/>activity such as walking or climbing<br/>stairs</li> </ul> |
| Criteria D           | <ul><li>Both of the following:</li><li>no nausea</li><li>no more than one of photophobia or phonophobia</li></ul>   | <ul> <li>Both of the following:</li> <li>no more than one of photophobia, phonophobia or mild nausea</li> <li>neither moderate or severe nausea nor vomiting</li> </ul>   |
| Criteria E           | Not better accounted for by another ICHD-3 diagnosis  | Not better accounted for by another ICHD-3 diagnosis  |

A review (49) of studies examining the 6-12 months prevalence of episodic (ETTH) and chronic TTH (CTTH) in children worldwide from the Years 2002-2013 is provided in Table 2 in the back of the thesis. Reporting and comparing prevalence estimations is however challenged because the use of the criteria episodic TTH (infrequent or frequent) differs between the studies. The presentation is therefore modified referring to the following studies (13, 14, 41, 44-47, 50-53).

The children suffer from headache 1/2-24 hours a day and in the chronic form often from morning until they go the sleep. Unlike migraine the children suffering from TTH can continue activities in the daytime, but these children report of tiredness and withdrawal from social activities and perhaps avoidance of excessive physical activity. The children present impairments compromising concentration, school learning and attendance and leisure activities (14, 54, 55). Anxiety and depression symptoms are found to be co-existing with TTH (13, 54, 56) and need to be specially addressed and diagnosed.

Soee et al. (57) examined the distribution of diagnoses administrated in a tertiary children's headache clinic in one year 2009-2010 and found that of 169

new-diagnosed children 20% suffered from migraine, mixed headache 27%, chronic TTH 20%, frequent episodic TTH 14%, medication overuse headache (MOH) 4% and other headaches (primary or secondary) 15%.

#### Etiology and pain mechanisms

The etiology behind TTH is not yet clarified. There is a consensus that the etiology is multi-factorial and that psychosocial stressors and/or mechanical stressors are of importance (16, 58, 59). Factors associated with TTH are seen to be related to school and family (14, 54). The frequent uses of computers have been found related with TTH in adolescents (60). A history of frequent headache has been hypothesized to lead to persistent headache (16, 26) and a risk of medication overuse and medication overuse headache MOH (59). The etiology of TTH is linked to pathophysiological theories about nociception and the role the pericranial muscles might play.

#### Pathophysiological theories

In 1965 Melzack and Wall (61) presented a contemporary model of pain -the gate control theory. This model was abandoned /updated in 1989 -2004 with Melzacks neuromatrix model (62). This model is still under change due to contemporary neuroscience, but the main aspect, Melzack suggested after substantial phantom pain research, was that chronic pain emerges in the brain within a largely distributed neural network and modified by sensory experiences. The initial stimuli may be either psychological or physical stress understood as any threat to the biological homeostasis.

Theories related to frequent and chronic TTH see periphery and central sensitization as the possible mechanism responsible for the maintenance of TTH in both children and adults. One consequence is the accompanied enhanced pericranial tenderness by palpation and altered pain perception (17, 63-65). The descending part of trapezius together with its insertion is found to be the most tender site (13, 17, 65, 66). Bendtsen and Fernandez-de-las-Penas discussed the role, pericranial muscles might play (67). They concluded that muscle pain in TTH is not caused by generalised muscle contraction, which is supported by EMG studies. Though increased local muscle tension secondary to mechanical or mental stress and/or a decrease in micro blood flow to the muscle fibres may contribute to microtraumas. Studies suggest that also active myofascial triggerpoints play a role in prolonged inputs (67).

#### Nociception, hyperalgesia and sensitization

The nociceptive system comprises of multiple small, unmyelinized slow polymodale C-fibers, and larger, myelinized and fast A-fibers. The A $\delta$  mechanical nociceptor and polymodal C receptors respond to thermal, chemical and

mechanical stimuli that pose a potential noxious risk to the skin and body. The Cafferents synapse in the dorsal horn, predominantly lamina I and II with polysynaptic interneurons. Sensory impulses via C axons continue by mostly sub thalamic tracts with connections to the autonomic nervous system in the dorsal horn or at higher levels for blood pressure, breath, sweat and respiration control. (68, 69). The trigeminal ganglion is analogous to the dorsal root ganglion of the spinal cord and processes painful sensations in the face and motor supply to chewing muscles via the Trigeminal nerve.

Myogeneous pain is likewise nociceptive and originates within the muscletendon complex. It is supplied by free nerve endings from sensory afferents (group III+IV) synapsing in lamina II responding on mechanical and chemical stimuli (70) (II/chap.3).

From the dorsal horn there are connections to the lateral and anterior horn for correspondence with low motor neurons. These connections may affect muscle tone and increase/decrease movement ability. The system is a potential 'fight or flight system' related to defence mechanisms (71).

The A $\beta$  and A $\delta$ -fibres synapse in superficial and deeper layers of the dorsal horns and send sensory impulses via the spinothalamic tract directly via thalamus to the postcentral gyros for quick pain sensations and mechanical sensations also with connections to the autonomous system and to the limbic system (69, 71, 72).

Prolonged mechanical stimuli may result in awakening of nociceptors, which are defined as mechanically insensitive afferents or silent nociceptors having high mechanical thresholds and therefore respond only to prolonged stimuli. These silent nociceptors are seen as partly responsible for a sensitization characterized by a decrease in thresholds, augmented response to stimuli and ongoing spontaneously activity (73). The activity also affects  $A\beta$ -afferents, normally involved in innocuous tactile sensations (72).

Clinical pain as allodynia is so produced by stimuli that normally not evoke noxious sensations (72). Hyperalgesia is defined as a leftward shift of the stimuliresponse curve (64, 68, 72, 73) meaning increased pain response to stimuli in the affected body-area (primary hyperalgesia) and increased response in the unaffected body-area (secondary hyperalgesia) processes by hyper responsive  $A\delta/C$ -afferents. Central sensitization might occur after prolonged tissue-damaging stimuli or inflammation processed via C-afferents or free nerve endings (68, 72, 73). Connections to thalamus and limbic systems are believed to promote complex behavioural, motivational and affective responses (69, 71).

There are descending modulatory pathways known as 'descending analgesia systems' utilizing endogenous opioids and other neurotransmitters to affect spinal transmission (68, 69, 73). The production of pain is usually inhibited in the CNS but the inhibition might be suppressed.

#### Standard headache service

Headache service for children with recurrent headache is in most western countries organized in a 3 level-system comprised by primary community care, secondary care by specialized clinics and academic headache centers as tertiary care (74). In the tertiary centre the headache health care service is organized in an interdisciplinary team-setting with neuropaediatric physicians, specialist headache nurses, specialist physiotherapists and specialist psychologists (57, 74). Furthermore a variety of other consultants from relevant specialists areas are available for expanded examinations (74). There is both guidelines for and consensus about the interdisciplinary approach, but evaluations of the effect are sparse (74, 75). The main aim is to provide a flexible team service to the patient, where the treatment goals are shared between team members and the patient and verified in the team procedures (5, 74).

As headache is a common symptom in many diseases the parents' first concern is the speculations about a possible serious condition (58). Clarifying a diagnosis and excluding a serious intracranial course is important to the child and parents and the earliest responsibility for the neuropaediatric physicians. Parents and children are often relieved after the diagnosis has been clarified. Monitoring a full clinical history of the child's situation and a thorough neuropaediatric examination of the child is the first step of an intervention program (58, 76).

The use of a pain calendar for monitoring headache frequency and intensity by Visual Analogue Score (VAS)/numeric scale has been found feasible and valid in children (77, 78) and is a valuable tool in monitoring the child's disease. Children younger than 12 years of age need the help from parents to fulfil the diary precisely. The most used diary is a paper diary, but the risk of inaccuracy and limited reliability and compliance is experienced in research (79). A discrepancy between the child's monitoring and the parent's reports was found in a survey in Norway (80) with a tendency of parents underestimating the child's condition. An RCT study of 60 children with recurrent headache in USA (79) comparing the use of electronic diaries and paper diaries found significantly greater compliance and accuracy with the use of an e-diary, which would be preferable.

#### The role of the nurse

The headache nurse has a central role as a contact nurse for the child and family and is the professional, who helps monitor and control the planned course. The specialist nurses help and educate in filling in headache diaries, as well as support and give advice about the use of medication (57, 74). Another important work area is to guide and help families through a detoxification period.

As parents to a child with TTH and professionals are reluctant to choose preventive medication to the child as a first choice, patient education is important in paediatric headache team service. The focus is on helping the family to change specific behaviours in lifestyle at home and in school, as a way to prevent development or triggering the headache (75). The most basic lifestyle factors that are enabled through dialogue are sleep, liquids, food (81), physical activity (82) and the handling of psychosocial stressors (14, 81).

#### The role of the psychologist

The role of the psychologist is that of examining and supporting motivation to change behaviours and promoting pain coping strategies (74). Further the psychologist is involved in patients presenting psychopathological symptoms such as anxiety, depression or other mood symptoms.

#### *The role of the physiotherapist*

Physiotherapy is conducted following international guidelines such as the International Guidelines for the Management of Headache (29). The clinical reasoning follows the main concept of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health, ICF (ICF-CY) (83). The role of the physiotherapist is that of conducting body examinations on the basis of which treatment suggestions are planned. The evidence of physiotherapy and spinal manipulation compared to other treatments for headache in adults was found insufficient in a systematic review by Lessinck et al. (84).

Body awareness, body knowledge and body functions are central in physiotherapy. Physiotherapy has until now not been described as a science in itself, but relates to sciences in neurophysiology and movement sciences. The scientific theoretical approaches might represent a spectrum from hypothesesdeductive methodology to phenomenology. The latter originates from the philosopher Merleau-Ponty's Phénoménologie de la Perception 1945, part one- le Corps (85). Merleau-Ponty described the perceived body and its existence in the world. He increased the focus on the subjective body as the key to understanding and learning. He changed the concept of intentionality (the awareness is always directed towards something) and connected it with a body scheme, where the meaning is given in the centre of the body. He underscored that the body is our anchoring in a world.

More recently Body Awareness Therapy (BAT) (86) was developed by the Swedish physiotherapist Gertrud Roxendal, who based her BAT upon the ideas and exercises of Jacques Dropsy (87) a French psychoanalyst and dramaturge. He was inspired by both Western and Eastern philosophers, which can be recognized in his choice of exercises. The exercises aim to increase awareness of body functions such as 1) anchoring 2) midline 3) centre 4) breathing and 5) flow (86) leading to awareness and control of body reactions and stress. These elements are incorporated in the relaxation techniques used in interventions.

#### **Evidence of interventions**

Progressive relaxation therapy has been the most evidenced intervention in management of adult and adolescent with chronic TTH latest by Söderberg (88, 89). The progressive relaxation therapy was developed by the physiologist E. Jacobson in 1938 as a method of "approaching patients, who had fatigue, debility and lowered resistance", patients with tension and anxiety, who needed having their "energy output in muscular terms be economized in interest of their health" (90)

The method of relaxation was later refined by Bernstein and Borkovec (91) and they named tension headaches as a specific target of the therapy. The main elements of the technique are according to the authors : 1) understanding tension as a part of a problem 2) training sequentially tense and relax of various muscle groups and directing the attention, 3) the order goes hands-arms-face-neck-chest-shoulder-abdomen and legs. The training might proceed until the person manages quick relaxation.

Evidence for non-pharmacological interventions involving children is sparse. Table 3 presents a review (49) of original studies for children with TTH from 1995-2013.

| Studies   | Participants   | Intervention  | Outcome<br>measure   | Conclusion   |
|---|--|---|--|--|
| Andrasik et al.<br>2007 (92)<br>Controlled trial  | N=80<br>Range 7-17 years<br>FETTH  | A. 4 group sessions of<br>relaxation /8weeks<br>B. Amitriptyline 10mg<br>daily/3 mths   | Headache activity<br>MIDAS questionaire<br>Follow ups 3,6,12,24<br>mths  | Headache frequency<br>and disability<br>significantly reduced<br>in both groups at 1<br>and 2 years follow-<br>up. Most drop-outs in<br>medical group  |
| Bussone et al.<br>1998 (93)<br>RCT biofeedback<br>assisted relaxation<br>training for young<br>adolescents  | N=35<br>Mean age 11.1(2.6)<br>FETTH  | A. EMG biofeedback-<br>assisted relaxation.<br>Bifrontal auditory<br>B. Relax-placebo/<br>control<br>10 sessions/2/week   | Headache activity<br>STAIC (anxiety<br>inventory)<br>After intervention<br>and 3,6, 12 mths<br>follow up   | Significant between<br>group differences<br>with improved<br>headache frequency<br>enhancing 6-12 mths   |
| Gottschling et al.<br>2008 (94)<br>RCT of Laser<br>acupuncture in<br>children with<br>headache  | N=43<br>22 migraine<br>21 FETTH<br>Mean age 12.3(2.6)                        | <ul><li>A. Acupunctural<br/>active laser</li><li>B. Placebo laser</li><li>4 sessions/4 weeks</li></ul>  | Headache activity at<br>follow-ups up at<br>4,8,12 and 16 weeks  | Significant between<br>group differences<br>with effect of active<br>laser on headache<br>frequency, intensity<br>and duration.  |
| Grazzi et al.<br>2001 (95)<br>Clinical outcome of<br>EMG biofeedback-<br>assisted relaxation<br>training in juvenile<br>TTH                               | N=54<br>Mean age 12.1<br>FETTH   | EMG biofeedback-<br>assisted relaxation<br>Bifrontal-auditory. 10<br>sessions/2/week  | Headache activity<br>EMG values<br>Follow up<br>1,3,6,9,12,36 mths   | Significantly<br>improved<br>headache frequency<br>enhancing<br>up to 3 years follow<br>up   |
| Larsson &<br>Carlsson 1996 (89)<br>RCT of nurse-<br>administered<br>relaxation training<br>for children with<br>CTTH                                      | N=26<br>10-15 years<br>CTTH  | School-based<br>progressive relaxation<br>B. No treatment<br>10 sessions/2/week   | Headache activity<br>After intervention<br>and 6 mths follow up  | Significant between<br>group differences<br>with improved<br>headache frequency<br>after treatment and at<br>6 months follow-up  |
| Trautmann &<br>Kröner-Herwig<br>2010 (96)<br>RCT of Internet-<br>based self help<br>training for<br>recurrent headache<br>in childhood and<br>adolescents | N=65<br>Mean age 12.7<br>n=24, n=22, n=19<br>Migraine, TTH or<br>mixed>2/mth | RCT: 3 active<br>treatment conditions:<br>1. Cognitive Beha-<br>vioural Therapy, via 6<br>weeks internet<br>modules and CD.<br>2. AR Applied<br>Relaxation by one self<br>help module and CD.<br>3. Education by one<br>self help module. All<br>had email contact. | Headache diary<br>Pain Catastrophizing<br>Scale. Children's<br>Depression Inven-<br>tory. HRQOL.<br>Learning outcomes<br>were documented via<br>email contact.<br>Baseline, after<br>intervention and 6<br>mths follow up. | All 3 conditions<br>resulted in reduction<br>in headache fre-<br>quency and duration.<br>CBT internet educa-<br>tion highest within-<br>effect size. Internet<br>contact does not<br>affect patient-<br>provider relationship<br>negatively. |
| Von Stülpnagel et<br>al. 2009 (97)<br>Myofascial trigger<br>points in children<br>with TTH. A pilot<br>study  | N= 9 girls<br>Mean age 13.1<br>FETTH   | Trigger-point specific<br>physiotherapy<br>8 sessions/2/week  | Headache activity<br>after intervention  | Reduction in<br>headache frequency<br>and intensity.   |

# **Table 3.** Studies after 1995 involving non-pharmacological interventions for children with TTH

.

## Physical activity, aerobic power and muscular fitness as health indicators

#### Physical activity and aerobic power

For children and youth, the WHO's Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health 2011 (8) states that physical activity includes play, sports, transportation, chores, recreation, physical education or planned exercise in the context of family, school, and community activities. A WHO outcome indicator of the strategy is percentage of children in a community participating in least 60 minutes of physical activity per day (9). Children aged 5-17 should accumulate at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity daily. Greater amounts are recommended to provide additional health benefits. The activities should comprise vigorous-intensity activities at least three times a week and include ones that strengthen muscle and bone. Aerobic power as either measured or estimated VO<sub>2</sub> max is by WHO considered to be the best indicator of cardio respiratory fitness (8). Some research suggests a connection between physical activity levels and the prevalence of headache both in adults (82) and children (60).

#### Muscular fitness in relation to TTH and children

Muscular fitness is defined as the capacity to carry out work against resistance. The main health related muscular fitness components are maximal isometric or dynamic strength, explosive strength and endurance strength (98). Oksanen et al. (99, 100) found lower upper extremity endurance and lower neck flexion strength in 17 year old girls with TTH. A relationship between muscular force and pain was found by Andersen et al. (101) in female workers with a reduced ability to rapidly activate painful trapezius muscles measured by the rate of force development (RFD).

Latest research in adults with TTH has shown that physical training has a long lasting effect in reducing headache frequency and intensity (88). Physical training was here described as a combination of strength exercise training and cardiovascular warm-up. Research targeting office workers with neck-shoulder pain and frequent headaches found significant pain reductions from brief daily resistance training for upper extremities (102).

Strength training for children is recommended to follow specific guidelines (103-105). Strength training beyond the goal of reducing headache may have an impact on strengthening the musculoskeletal tissue and increase aerobic power (106) (chap 7, 15). Exercising also decreases the risk of sport injuries and provides fundamental health benefits (8). Furthermore it might have a behavioural impact on teaching the child healthy lifestyles (9). Traditional concerns in strength training in children are the risk of injury to the growth plates, though there are few reports of this. Children above the age of seven may participate. The training should be adjusted individually to the child's maturity of the musculoskeletal system. The

general paediatric guidelines for progressive resistance exercise are 1) warm up 2) a focus on technique, quality and learning of exercises 3) 1-3 sets of 6-15 repetitions 4) training 2-3 times a week on non-consecutive days 5) keep the program fresh and challenging by systematically varying the program. Free resistances as free weights or elastic bands are preferred. The technical performance of exercise should be a priority to the progression.

The role of muscular fitness and aerobic power to prevent diseases is increasingly recognized (98, 105). Likewise is there evidence that suggests that physical activity, aerobic power and muscular fitness promotes mental health and cognition in children (98, 105).

#### **Concluding limitations in research**

Research concerning children with TTH is sparse both when it comes to associated physical factors and relevant non-pharmacological interventions. Physical factors associated with TTH in children such as muscle strength and aerobic power has not yet been examined. Pericranial tenderness has been examined in children with TTH (65) but not in connection with interventions.

Relaxations therapy as a coping strategy has shown to be effective for adults and adolescents, but there are few studies involving children younger than 15. Physical exercise or strength training as a way of preventing or reducing headache symptoms and enhancing health status in children with TTH has not yet been researched. Likewise is knowledge about patient education, headache and children sparse.
# Aims and objectives

The overall aim of this thesis was to examine the association of selected physical factors with a frequent or chronic headache condition in children. Furthermore this thesis aims to examine aspects of interactive interventions, and interpreting the results within a frame of empowering patient education. The objectives are:

- To evaluate the effect of computer-animated relaxation therapy in children between 7-13 years with TTH and to examine the children's experiences with the therapy. Furthermore to gauge the enrolment procedures and clinic capacity and the compliance of the child and parents (Paper I).
- To determine the test-retest repeatability of isometric maximal voluntary contraction (MVC) and force steadiness (FS) of neck flexion and extension, and of isometric MVC and RFD of dominant unilateral shoulder abduction in healthy children 9-18 years of age. Furthermore to determine the test-retest repeatability of the TTS and a sub maximal cycle ergometer test predicting maximal oxygen uptake (Paper II).
- To examine the combined measurements of muscle strength in the neckshoulder region, aerobic power and pericranial tenderness in girls 9 up to 18 years of age, and their associations with frequent episodic or chronic TTH compared to healthy controls (Paper III).
- To examine the outcomes of specific strength training compared with counselling by nurse and physiotherapist in short, defined patient education programmes for girls with TTH 9-18 years (Paper IV).

# Methods

The following presents the setting, design and participants. Furthermore the data collection, methodology of interventions and statistical analyses are described.

# Setting

The four studies took place at the Children's Headache Clinic, Glostrup and Herlev Hospitals, University of Copenhagen, from October 2008 to September 2013. The testing was conducted at the Danish Headache Centre, Glostrup Hospital, University of Copenhagen. Test instruments were provided and supervised from the National Research Centre for the Working Environment, Copenhagen.

All children with TTH, diagnosed at the headache clinic exclusively with a diagnosis of frequent episodic or chronic TTH, according to the ICHD 2004/2013 (25, 26) were invited to participate.

Exclusion criteria were migraine headache more than once per month for a period of six months, a history of trauma, arterial hypertension or intracranial hypertension; headache secondary to a cervical or other morbidity; and headache associated with a psychiatric comorbidity. Another exclusion criterion was headache associated with a significant learning disability or complicated social situation that required special education and/or community involvement. Participants with TTH were at the first diagnostic visit informed by the contact physician and nurse about the child's basic needs for adequate food, liquids, sleep and activity.

# Design

The methodology of the studies is mainly described as a hypothetico-deductive methodology. Hypotheses are provided in Appendix A. A brief overview of the methodology is provided in Table 4.

| Table 4. M         | ethodology of the studies  |  |  |   |
|--------------------|--|--|--|---|
| Study/paper        | Ι  | Π  | III  | IV  |
| Design             | Pilot study. Descriptive/explorative<br>and before-after intervention  | Blinded repeatability study  | Blinded case-control study   | Test-blinded randomised and controlled trial  |
| Participants       | N=9 children ( 8 girls, 1 boy) with<br>TTH,<br>7-13 years  | N=25 healthy children,<br>(15 girls, 10 boys)<br>9-18 years  | N=82, 41 girls with TTH<br>and 41 healthy girls,<br>9-18 years   | N=49 girls with TTH,<br>9-18 years  |
| Data<br>collection | Study group characteristics<br>Self-reported headache frequency and<br>intensity<br>Total Tenderness Score<br>Surface EMG data<br>Children's evaluations.<br>All measures baseline, after 6 weeks<br>intervention and 3-month follow<br>up/home practice | Study group characteristics<br>Beighton Score<br>Total Tenderness Score<br>Muscle strength and stability<br>(MVC, FS, RFD)<br>Predicted Max Oxygen<br>Uptake | Study group characteristics<br>Self-reported headache<br>frequency, intensity and<br>duration<br>Beighton Score<br>Total Tenderness Score<br>Muscle strength (MVC,<br>RFD)<br>Predicted Max Oxygen<br>Uptake | Study group characteristics<br>Outcome measures as in<br>study III -baseline, after<br>10-weeks intervention and<br>after 12 weeks of follow-<br>up/home practice.<br>PedsQl <sup>TM</sup> and PedMIDAS<br>self-reports baseline and at<br>two-year follow up |
| Analyses           | Descriptive statistics<br>Paired-samples t-test  | Descriptive statistics<br>One-way ANOVA<br>Bland-Altman plots and by<br>quantifying the variability  | Descriptive statistics<br>Binary logistic regression<br>Mann-Whitney U test  | Statistician blinded.<br>Descriptive statistics<br>GLIMMIX proc; MIXED<br>proc. Two samples t-test  |

In study I mixed methods were used with an applied ethnographic approach (107). The researcher acted as a participant observer using observations and dialogue to gain insight into the child's daily life and challenges. The aim was to explore and guide the child through a process of identifying where and when to practice self-regulating techniques. Another aim was to guide the child to body awareness with the support of computer-animated biofeedback. Field notes were taken and the child's reflections and exercising of self-control were supported.

Methodology and design of the studies III and IV followed the STROBE (108) and CONSORT recommendations (109). Furthermore, international recommendations and guidelines for trials of recurrent headache (74, 110) and methodological considerations in research with children were taken into account (23). Guidelines for complex interventions were likewise consulted (111).

# Participants

Study I

Nine consecutive children (8 girls and 1 boy) 7-13 years of age with TTH participated in the study. The children were newly diagnosed and recruited from 1/10 2008-1/5 2009. Three boys did not start because their parents were too busy to attend the nine sessions scheduled. No children dropped out after the start and all nine children attended the three-month follow up. Seven children completed eight sessions, and five of them completed the ninth and final session. Two children completed seven consecutive sessions. Enrolment is provided in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Flow diagram of study I

### Study II

A convenience sample of 28 healthy children 9-18 years of age agreed to participate in two rounds of testing. The children were recruited from local schools in the suburban area of Copenhagen and were not suffering from frequent episodic or chronic TTH, migraine or any other diseases

Two girls failed to follow the plan and one boy did not show up for the second test date. Thus, 25 of the children (10 boys and 15 girls) participated in the test-retest design with a one-week interval.

### Study III

Participants in study III comprised 44 consecutive girls 9-18 years of age, diagnosed with TTH after the 1 May 2010 to July 2012 and agreed to participate in the study. Boys were initially included in the study, but the inclusion was cancelled the 1st of October 2011 because there were only three boys enrolled of which two dropped out. Forty-three age and geographically matched healthy girls with no more than one episode of headache per month and no other illnesses participated as healthy controls recruited from local schools in the suburban area of Copenhagen. Two of the healthy girls and three of the girls with TTH failed to start. Flowchart is provided in paper III.

### Study IV

Participants in study IV were 53 consecutive girls 9-18 years of age diagnosed with TTH after the 1 May 2010 to 1 September 2013. Fifty-three girls were randomised into intervention A or B. Four girls failed to start. Twenty-four girls followed group A and 25 group B. Four girls failed to attend the last test round in group A, and five girls in group B. A flow diagram of enrolment, allocation and analysis for study IV is provided in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Flow diagram of study III and IV.

# Data collection and procedures

## Self-reports

Self-reports and measurements used in the studies is provided in Table 5. The following is a list that describes the self-reports, measurements and their procedures.

- 1 Study I, III and IV: At least 1-6 months before physicians' examination the family completed a detailed headache diary with pain frequency, intensity and duration. The diary was similar to the one recommended by Jensen et al. (76). After the first diagnostic examination the child and family filled in a headache calendar every evening with the most dominant, but not the highest, pain for the day measured on a 10 cm VAS/numeric scale (77). The total duration for the day was noted. The children were not allowed to take regular medication, but if any medication was taken, it was noted. In study I and IV, the child and parents reported the pain from one month before baseline and till the 3month follow up; In study I there were 6 weeks of intervention and a 3month follow up period/ home practice. In study IV, there were 10 weeks of intervention and a 3-month follow up/home practice.
- 2 Study IV: HRQOL reports were administered baseline by secretaries and nurses and repeated 24 months later by mail. At the initial diagnostic physician's examination the child and family filled in the PedsQL<sup>™</sup> 4.0 Generic Core Scales for age appropriate child and parental quality of life reports, validated and validated in translation (112-114). The questionnaire consisted of 23 items comprising four dimensions: physical functioning (8 items), emotional functioning (5 items), social functioning (5 items) and school functioning (5 items), which were scored on a fivepoint Likert scale (0-4/ never − almost always). Parental and child reports were collected for 8-12 and 13-18 year olds. For data analysis raw scores 0-4 were transformed reversely to 0-100 scale scores following the scoring instructions (115).
- 3 Study IV: The PedMIDAS report was conducted on disability at school, home and social/sports activities (116), validated in children with migraine (117, 118) and in children with TTH (119).
- 4 Study I: The children filled in a brief written evaluation questionnaire immediately after six weeks of intervention with the support of a parent.

| Measurement                     | Study I | Study II | Study III      | Study IV       |
|---------------------------------|---------|----------|----------------|----------------|
| Self-reports of headache        | Х       |          | Х              | Х              |
| Self reports of HRQOL           |         |          |                | Х              |
| Self-reported evaluation        | Х       |          |                |                |
| Height and weight               |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| Calculated BMI v/h <sup>2</sup> |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| Beighton Score                  |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| Total Tenderness Score          | Х       | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| SEMG                            | Х       |          |                |                |
| Maximal voluntary contraction   |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| Rate of force development       |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |
| Force steadiness                |         | Х        | X Not analysed | X Not analysed |
| Predicted VO <sub>2</sub> max   |         | Х        | Х              | Х              |

 Table 5. Self-reports and measurements in the studies

### Measurements

Extensive pilot experiments were conducted for the measurements of tenderness, muscle strength and SEMG, including adults initially, then children, who willingly participated. Pilot testing of repeatability was likewise conducted for muscle testing in a group of children.

In study I, measurements were conducted baseline, after six weeks of intervention and after 12 weeks of follow-up/home practice. SEMG data were extracted for the first 120 seconds of baseline (relax 1), 120 seconds of self-control (relax 2), and for the interactive in-between period. In study IV, measurements were conducted baseline, after 10 weeks of intervention and after 12 weeks of follow-up/home practice.

### Description of measurements

- 1 Study group characteristics such as age, height and weight were measured. BMI was calculated.
- In order to assess hypermobility as a potential confounder associated with headache, general joint mobility was screened using the revised Beighton Score (120), which is a bilateral examination in a standing position of five joint movements that includes the fifth metacarpophalangeal joint, the thumb, elbow, knee, and hands flat on the floor with stretched knees. The maximum score is nine points. The cut-off level for hypermobility was

5/9 (120). A goniometer (Smith & Nephew Rolyan Inc, London, UK, A 441-1) was used to measure the passive bilateral dorsiflexion of the fifth metacarpophalangeal joint and the passive bilateral hyperextension of the elbow and knee.

- 3 Tenderness of pericranial muscles was examined in a supine or sitting position in a chair with adjustable neck and leg support. The TTS system was first presented by Langemark and Olesen in 1987 (121) and later validated by Bendtsen et al. (122, 123). A summed score was calculated from individual scores of seven bilateral sites (masseter, frontalis, temporalis, processus mastoideus, occipital insertion, trapezius and sternocleidomastoideus). In study I the medial corner above the eve, the origin of the orbicularis oculi muscle, was the seventh site according to Carlsson (66). The four-point scale score was as follows: 0=denial of tenderness, no visible reaction; 1=verbal report of discomfort or mild pain, no visible reaction; 2=verbal report of moderate pain, with or without visible reaction; and 3=verbal report of marked pain and visible expression of discomfort. The palpation was conducted with small rotational movements, and pressure was maintained for 4 to 5 seconds. The palpation pressure was initially controlled by a palpometer (122) on an arbitrary scale, 80-200 arbitrary units (AU), reaching a standardised pressure of 120 AU (123) The palpometer was an original instrument made at the Danish Headache Centre. The maximum possible total score was 42 points. Figure 5 illustrates the sites from study I and IV.
- 4 SEMG data were raw signals collected using a ten channel Nexus-10 apparatus for physiological monitoring and feedback with wireless communication technology; certified class IIa (EU), fast inputs 2,048 samples/s, 24 bit AD converter. Cables were low noise carbon coated, for bipolar placement. Software was the Biotrace+ 2008, which is capable of designing and monitoring sessions and workshops (Mindmedia, Netherlands). The band-pass filtering was 10-500 Hz and epoch duration for root mean square (RMS) and average rectified value was 1/16 s., and mean median frequency (MDF) 1 s. All raw session data were preserved and stored in output files. Sensors were 32x22 mm rectangular Ag/AgCl pre-gelled EMG/ECG electrodes. Hypoallergenic hydro gel was applied and the electrodes were affixed by standard snap connector (MBS manufacturer/item no. 3SG3-N). The child sat in a comfortable adjustable chair, with arms and feet supported, in front of a table with the computer. After proper skin preparation (isopropyl/alcohol 70%) electrodes were placed according to SENIAM recommendations (124). Right and left sides were recorded simultaneously. RMSs and MDFs were extracted for the 120 seconds of baseline (relax 1), 120 seconds of self-control (relax 2), and for the interactive period, when the child was working with the screens.

5 Isometric muscular testing was conducted using a computerised force transducer, model Vishay Nobel, type KIS-2, max. 2kN (Vishay Precision Group, Malvern, PA, USA) wall-mounted on a custom-built adjustable stand. The child was positioned on a chair with the upper and lower trunk fixed with belts. For neck flexion measurements the lower edge of the padded force transducer corresponded with the line between the eyebrows, while for neck extension measurements the pad was positioned with the lower edge corresponding with the protuberantia occipitalis. The testing included isometric MVC in neck flexion and extension from a neutral upright position. The child was instructed to slowly build up the force to maximum within two seconds and then exert maximal pressure for about three seconds and thereafter slowly relax again. FS in both neck flexion and extension were removed from analyses after results from study II showed a tendency of systematic changes between test and retest.

For shoulder MVC and RFD the child was asked to lie on a mattress in a supine position. The dominant shoulder was then positioned in external rotation and abduction, while the elbow was stretched to position the back of the wrist on the pad. The child was instructed to press as fast and as forcefully possibly in the direction of abduction.

6 Aerobic power was determined by a Monark Ergomedic 939E PC bike (Monark Exercise AB, Stockholm, Sweden) using a sub maximal Åstrand test procedure and nomogram/accompanying tables for predicting  $VO_2$  max (1). Heart rate was monitored using an adjustable Polar pulse belt (ProTerapi A/S, Brøndby, Denmark) and recorded continuously on a computer.

#### **Total Tenderness Score**



Figure 5. Bilateral palpation sites of TTS

## Interventions

#### Study I

In study I, a course of nine sessions of modified relaxation therapy and biofeedback was scheduled for each child. Parents participated in the first and last session to be introduced to and to evaluate the therapy. The individual sessions were 2-8. Sessions were scheduled as two sessions a week the first three weeks and then once a week. The time, 9 am, and days for meeting were constant throughout sessions. The child and parents were introduced to a modified progressive relaxation therapy adapted from Bernstein and Borkovec (91).

The children received a written folder that consisted of age-appropriate text and pictograms of tension and relaxation exercises for seven muscle groups (fist, elbow, shoulder-shrug, forehead, jaw, abdomen and legs as a whole). The child was encouraged to exercise at home once a day and additionally practice body awareness and relaxation in daily life. Each session started with a dialogue about home practice and experiences, and a short relaxation procedure. The focus of this was on relaxed up-right sitting posture, awareness of self and body, abdominal breathing and tension versus relaxation of the seven muscle groups. After a short dialogue and practice, the child was connected to the biofeedback system and the child worked for at most 20 minutes with the screens.

The interactive feedback screens were set up in such a way that the child was able to click to and fro between different screens using the mouse. The child was encouraged to stay at one screen for a minimum of two minutes. Each session comprised four to five screens of visual feedback consisting of brief moving videos or animations, bar graphs or digital windows visualising the tension level, and with underlying auditory musical feedback. All feedback was inhibited when tension went above the specified threshold level. The threshold was adjusted manually by the therapist to encourage the child to respond to feedback and to reduce the tension level. The therapist's role was that of a participant observer guiding the child to be aware of the body when receiving feedback and exploring when and how to use self-regulating techniques. Every week there was a new set up of screens to keep the child motivated. Screen set-ups were identical for all children. The total session time was 45 minutes.

#### Study IV

In study 4 the participants were randomised by a secretary, blinded to the study, using computer-generated allocation of blocks of 10 into two intervention groups, A and B. Interventions were short, defined patient education programmes of 10 weeks of home training with approximately 140 minutes of supervised training or counselling, followed by 12 weeks continued home practice without supervision.

Group A was taught and supervised by the physiotherapist in progressive specific strength training with resistive tubing elastics (Thera-Band, Hygenic Corporation, Ohio, USA) and keeping a diary. Training comprised four alternating exercises, two by two, and involved progression from one set with 10 repetitions moving to three sets with 10 repetitions. The elastics were red, green and blue for progressive resistance. To determine the level of resistance a 15 repetition maximum was used for estimating an exercise resistance equivalent 75-80% of one repetition maximum (125). The children were taught to warm up their arms and to be aware of exercise quality and breathing. The task was to conduct home exercise three times weekly, monitored in the diary and supported by the parents. The progressive strength training was based on research and recommendations by the American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Sports Medicine and Fitness, policy statement for paediatric training (103), Faigenbaum et al. (105, 126) and Andersen et al. (127). Paper IV contains a figure illustrating the exercises. Group A was not provided any counselling during the 10 weeks of intervention. After the 10 weeks of intervention, the child and family were provided one counselling session with the nurse in order not to withhold any help for the family.

Group B was provided with need-based counselling based on international guidelines (110). Group B was considered the control group being an 'established

intervention' proven to be effective in the treatment of children in the same tertiary clinic (57). The intervention comprised one session with the nurse and two sessions with the physiotherapist. The focus was on a motivational dialogue based on topics on a checklist promoting lifestyle changes and self-care with the purpose of enhancing the child's health and well-being at home and at school. The child was encouraged to practice the agreed life-style changes at home. Paper IV has a table with a list of the counselling topics the nurse and physiotherapist used.

Both interventions were followed by a twelve-week period in which home practice was advised to be continued without supervision. During this period, families could call for psychology counselling if needed. The addition of psychological counselling and/or vitamin D supply in the project period was noted as additional explanatory variables following international guidelines for trials (110). A timeline for study IV is provided in paper IV.

# Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 17-20 and SAS 9.3. A p-value of 0.05 was chosen as the level of significance.

## Study I

The effect of computer animated relaxation therapy was evaluated by the primary outcome variables headache frequency and intensity over 30 days. Secondary outcome variables were TTS and SEMG data. Paired samples t-test was used to examine the before-after effect. SEMG data were presented in box plots. Other data were presented by descriptive statistics. Furthermore, qualitative data from children's written evaluations were reported in a condensed form.

## Study II

The test-retest repeatability was examined of isometric MVC and FS of neck flexion and extension; isometric MVC and RFD of dominant shoulder and pericranial tenderness recorded by means of TTS and a sub maximal cycle ergometer test predicting  $VO_2$  max. The analyses comprised a four-step analysis involving a intraclass correlation coefficient, changes in the mean between the two test occasions, the levels of agreement visualised in Bland-Altman Plots and by quantifying the variability (128).

## Study III

The power analysis was based on preliminary data onf the RFD variable showing that 45 girls were required in each study group to be able to detect a significant difference between the groups with a power of 80%. A logistic regression analysis was used to examine the associations between the independent test variables and

the dichotomised dependent variable headache or not (no more than once per month). The associations were presented as OR and 95% confidence intervals. The results were adjusted for age and BMI as the confounders for growth. Furthermore, data were presented by descriptive statistics. Differences between study groups were analysed using Mann-Whitney U test. Correlations were analysed using Spearmans test.

### Study IV

The power analysis for study IV was based on preliminary data from study III. With a mean headache frequency of 20 days (SD 9.6), significance of 5%, a power  $(1-\beta)$  at 80% and with an expected difference at 40%, 23 participants in two groups were required.

Statistics were analysed by a statistician, who was blinded to the study. Descriptive statistics were presented for all group characteristics. The primary outcome variable headache frequency out of 28 days was calculated. Mean headache intensity and durations over 28 days were calculated. As secondary variables the mean peak MVC and RFD data were calculated, as well as mean TTS and predicted VO<sub>2</sub> max. Psychological counselling and/or vitamin D supply in the project period were incorporated in the analysis as additional explanatory variables (110). Results were adjusted for age and BMI.

At baseline differences in headache intensity, peak data, TTS and oxygen uptake were analysed using two-sample t-test. Headache frequency and headache duration were analysed as binomial counts (count parameter equalled 28 days and 24 hours) using generalised linear models. Headache frequency, headache duration and headache at test were analysed using the repeated measurement analysis Proc Glimmix. The model included time and the interaction between time and intervention. The rest of the variables were analysed by linear mixed models for repeated measurements with the MIXED procedure. Per protocol, analysis was conducted for all completers of the study. An intention to treat analysis was calculated as modified to a final observation carried forward technique (129). All analyses were conducted in SAS.

Clinically important differences of measurements were considered when the results were interpreted, using the results from article II and from Powell et al. (78). For headache frequency, the minimum clinically important reduction was that of one day and for intensity, it was 10 mm VAS. For the secondary variables see the coefficients of variation in article II.

# Ethical considerations

The studies followed the ethical principles of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki 2008 and 2013 (130), first adopted in 1964, and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child 1989 (19). The specific rights of the child related to decision making and the child's developmental capacity are described in the background section of this thesis.

Medical professionals and researchers are obliged to respect and protect the life, health, dignity, integrity and right to self-determination of participants in clinic and research. Furthermore, they must respect the right to privacy of research participants and their right to confidentiality of personal information. Research should be conducted with a careful assessment of minimised risks and burdens. Research should promote benefits, justice and equality.

# Life, health, dignity, integrity and equality

In general, the studies were planned and conducted in such a way that participation in examinations and treatments would prioritise the best interest and well-being of the child. Another priority was to provide the child and parents with information on health and related body functions. The child and the parents' statements were considered with equal weight with respect to the views of the child.

## Risks and burdens

Because children are vulnerable people the planning and piloting of procedures required careful risk assessment of any type of harm to or pressure on the child. This consideration formed the basis for specifically choosing a sub maximal cycle ergometer test and when piloting the neck tests. The parents were invited to be present during procedures as a precaution.

ClinicalTrials.gov and the National Committee on Health Research Ethics for Hospitals in the Capital Region of Denmark (ID: H-3-2009-081) approved the study's detailed research protocol and information sheets for participants in study II, III and IV. The Danish Data Protection Agency also approved the studies. Any new steps in the research process have also been approved by the committee after submission of additional protocols.

The Department of Development at Glostrup Hospital, University of Copenhagen approved study I, which was a developmental study that did not require acceptance by the regional committee.

# Confidentiality, self-determination and justice

The individual has the right to self-determination and to voluntarily give an informed decision. Participants were informed about the research in detail, both orally and in writing. Justice was sought as to inform about both the burdens and the benefits or non-benefits of participation in the research.

Careful attention was paid to how and when the information was given. The child and parents were given at least 24 hours to reflect before making a decision. The child and parents were informed of their general rights in participating in a medical study. They were informed about the confidentiality of personal information and the right to withdraw from the study without any consequences regarding the child's future treatment. The parents gave written informed consent and the children gave oral informed assent. Children older than 15 years of age were given age-appropriate written information.

Healthy children received written material in a sealed envelope from the school after permission from the school board and head. After reading the material, parents with healthy children had to actively respond to the researcher by mail or phone in order to avoid influencing their decision. This procedure was recommended by the Health Research Ethics Committee.

# Results

The results presented are based on the participants characteristics, test-retest repeatability and the associations between physical factors and headache in girls. Outcomes from interactive interventions in study I and IV are presented together. The corresponding hypotheses are available in Appendix A.

# Characteristics of participants

The characteristics of the participants in the four studies are provided in Table 6 with data of baseline age, anthropometric measures, headache characteristics, pericranial tenderness and disability reports.

Participants in study IV also reported baseline deficits in the areas of physical, emotional and school functioning as results from HRQOL questionnaires. These results are presented in paper IV with the results from child and parental reports.

| Table 6. Baseline characte                          | ristics of    | study participants                             |                |                |                                    |                    |  |  |
|---|---------------|--|----------------|----------------|------------------------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| Study/<br>characteristics                           | Study I       | (, N=9   | Study II, N=25 | Study III      | , N=82, 41/41                      | Study IV,          | N=49   |  |
| Age in years<br>Mean (SD)                           | Boys<br>Girls | 13.0<br>10.6 (1.6)                             | 13.7 (1.8)     | TTH<br>Healthy | 12.7 (2.0)<br>12.3 (2.8)           | Group A<br>Group B | $13.4 (2.0) \\ 13.3 (1.7)$                             |  |
| BMI w/h <sup>2</sup><br>Mean (SD)                   |               |  | 18.8 (2.0)     | TTH<br>Healthy | 19.9 (3.2)<br>20.1 (3.0)           | Group A<br>Group B | 19.7 (3.1)<br>19.5 (2.9)                               |  |
| Total Tenderness Score (0-42)<br>Median (quartiles) | Boys<br>Girls | 23.0<br>24.8 (7.0)<br>Mean (SD)                | 11.5 (8.3)     | TTH<br>Healthy | 23.0 (16.0-26.5)<br>7.0 (4.0-12.0) | Group A<br>Group B | 19.6 (7.7)<br>21.6 (8.8)                               |  |
| Headache frequency, days/28d<br>Median (quartiles)  | Boys<br>Girls | 12.0<br>20.0 (9.4) 5-30<br>Mean (SD) range/30d |                | TTH<br>Healthy | 24.0 (11.0-28.0)<br>-              | Group A<br>Group B | 22.0 (13.5-28)<br>24.0 (11.0-28)                       |  |
| Headache duration hours/28 d<br>Median (quartiles)  |               |  |                | TTH<br>Healthy | 10.0 (4.5-24.0)<br>-               | Group A<br>Group B | 8.0 (4.1-13.8)<br>9.3 (3.7-24.0)                       |  |
| VAS Score /28d<br>Median (quartiles)                | Boys<br>Girls | 1.0<br>5.3 (1.7) 3-7.7<br>Mean (SD) range/30d  |                | TTH<br>Healthy | 4.6 (3.6-6.0)<br>-                 | Group A<br>Group B | 4.7 (3.2-5.5)<br>4.3 (3.4-5.6)                         |  |
| VAS Score at test<br>Median (quartiles)             |               |  |                | TTH<br>Healthy | 1.5 (0.0-4.0)<br>-                 | Group A<br>Group B | 0.5 (0.0-3.1)<br>2.0 (0.0-3.5)                         |  |
| Disability/PedMIDAS                                 |               |  |                |                |                                    | N=36:              | Grade I=3<br>Grade II=15<br>Grade III=7<br>Grade IV=11 |  |

# Repeatability (study II)

The results from study II indicated acceptable test-retest repeatability, providing a stable basis for the research in study III and IV. Repeatability was examined by a four-step analysis and the FS revealed trends of systematic changes between the two test occasions. The test was therefore removed from future analyses. Intraclass correlation coefficients are provided in Table 7.

| Variables/ICC  | ICC (95% CI)     |
|--|------------------|
| Peak shoulder MVC (N $\times$ 10 <sup>-1</sup> )                 | 0.97 (0.92-0.98) |
| Peak shoulder RFD (N $\times$ 10 <sup>-1</sup> x <sup>-s</sup> ) | 0.79 (0.58-0.90) |
| Peak neck extension MVC (N x 10 <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 0.91 (0.81-0.96) |
| Peak neck flexion MVC (N x 10 <sup>-1</sup> )                    | 0.91 (0.82-0.96) |
| Peak neck extension FS (N x 10 <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 0.76 (0.53-0.89) |
| Peak neck flexion FS (N $\times$ x 10 <sup>-1</sup> )            | 0.67 (0.39-0.84) |
| Mean TTS (0–42)  | 0.87 (0.74-0.94) |
| MeanVO <sub>2</sub> max $(l \cdot min^{-1})$                     | 0.80 (0.60-0.91) |
|  |                  |

**Table 7.** Intraclass correlation coefficients with 95% confidence intervals

From the four-step analysis the TTS revealed a method error at 2.69 and corresponding coefficient of variation at 25.05%. The shoulder RFD revealed a method error at 7.86 and CV% at 32.13. This variability between two test occasions was interpreted in the results of interventions.

## Associations with headache (study III)

Results from study III demonstrated that girls with TTH had significantly higher pericranial tenderness than controls in correlation with headache frequency (r=0.66, p<0.001). Results indicated an association between shoulder and neck strength and headache with the following OR for girls having headache: 7.6 (95% CI 1.4–40.9) for weak to strong shoulder muscles; OR 3.1 (95% CI 1.2–8.1) for weak to average neck-shoulder strength; and OR 1.3 (95% CI 1.0–1.6) for neck flexion strength. There was likewise an association between predicted VO<sub>2</sub>max and headache showing OR 5.2 (95% CI: 1.4–19.6) for headache for each unit of decrease in predicted VO<sub>2</sub> max.

It was concluded that reduced neck-shoulder strength and aerobic power, together with increased pericranial tenderness, are associated with TTH in girls.

## Primary outcomes (study I+IV)

Results from study I indicated that a nine-session course in relaxation therapy supported by pictogrammes and SEMG computer animated biofeedback is a feasible and well-received intervention for children 7-13 years of age and provides a mean headache improvement of 45% for headache frequency at baseline versus three-month follow up.

Results from study IV showed that both specific strength training and counselling by a nurse and a physiotherapist resulted in a significantly decreased headache frequency, p=0.001 and decreased headache duration p=0.022, with no significant between-group differences. The odds of having headache a random day decreased during 22 weeks by 0.65 (0.50-0.84) (OR (95% CI)) for both groups. During 22 weeks 33% of the girls had a headache reduction  $\geq$ 30%, group A 6/20 girls, group B 7/19. Twenty-six percent had a headache reduction  $\geq$ 50%, group A 4/20 girls and B 6/19. Paper IV presents all results.

At the baseline test, the girls in groups A and B, 42% and 44% respectively, had no headache. The mean VAS score at the baseline test was 1.6 (SD 2.0) for group A and 2.2 (SD 2.6) for group B. No significant differences were identified over time and between interventions.

## Secondary outcomes (study I+IV)

In study I, the TTSs seemed to decrease significantly in children with a frequent headache. SEMG data showed that the children had managed to work with tension regulation. The children evaluated that they had experienced efficacy in tension and pain control through enhanced body awareness. Four learning phases are presented in the article on how to practice attention and body awareness. The results also showed that children younger than 13 years of age need both dialogue and guidance by a participant observer to be able to achieve body awareness and to be able to verbalise reflections. All children revealed through dialogue an inner knowledge of relationships between psychosocial elements and the occurrence of headache. The study also revealed that the capacity of the clinic did not allow a large scale three-group study, on the basis of which study IV was planned.

In study IV, TTS increased significantly (p=0.001) for both groups. Both interventions resulted in an unanticipated significant decrease in neck extension strength with a decrease in cervicothoracic ratio from 1.9 to 1.7, indicating a

change in muscle balance. During 22 weeks peak shoulder MVC increased  $\geq 10\%$  in 5/20 girls for group A and 2/19 girls for group B. In group A, 4/20 increased shoulder MVC  $\geq 20\%$  and none in group B. Predicted VO<sub>2</sub>max increased  $\geq 5\%$  in 8/20 girls and  $\geq 10\%$  in 5/20 girls in group A. In group B, 6/19 girls increased VO<sub>2</sub>max  $\geq 5\%$  and 3/19 girls  $\geq 10\%$ . In group A, 4/20 increased oxygen uptake  $\geq 15\%$  and 1/19 in group B. In the A group 50% of those girls with a headache reduction of  $\geq 30\%$  had an increase in VO<sub>2</sub>max  $\geq 5\%$ . For the B group this was the case for 29%.

# Discussion

## Methodological considerations

Careful attention has been paid to describing concepts clearly and in an expanded manner to establish scientific robustness as proposed by Persson and Sahlin (18). Attention to three main areas were proposed (18): 1) conceptual importance and correctness; 2) knowledge base and stability: what do we know or not know? and 3) incorrectness. The background section of this thesis tries to address parts of these aspects in combination with the following discussion of methodology.

### Hypothetico-deductive methodology

The main methodology used in the studies was hypothetico-deductive, allowing us to hypothesise about a certain phenomenon in a way that addressed the underlying who, what, where, why and how (18) (chap. 2 & 3). Hence, these aspects are defined in the thesis as follows. Who: the child 7-18 years of age; what: frequent and chronic TTH; where: a specialised headache clinic in Copenhagen. But the intriguing questions of why and how remain. Why do these children suffer from headache at around the time they start school or even earlier? How should we direct interventions? Finally, are there questions we have failed to ask?

Our goal was to identify associations, predictors and eventually causality to answer the how and why these children develop headache. Popper discusses the concept of scientific objectivity, stating that the objectivity of a hypothesis or scientific statement lies in the fact that it is testable and that the experimental procedures can be reproduced by anyone in repeated experiments following the same procedures (131) (part I, section 8).

The aim of auxiliary hypotheses is to avoid taking any underlying factors for granted by specifying conditions and additional important premises. If the test results are false, either the hypothesis or one of the auxiliary hypotheses is false (18, 132) (Persson & Sahlin p 52; Hempel p. 28). For example, if our test system implies systematic errors, the results will be unreliable and interfere with the ability to accept or reject the hypothesis, or we might accept the hypothesis on a false premise. Appendix A lists hypotheses and auxiliary hypotheses.

Based on a theoretical framework and a test-retest analysis, the case-control study provides solid documentation. Furthermore the logistic regression is according to Popper neither falsifiable nor verifiable as it is a relative frequency (131) (part 8, section 66). This is evaluated as strength.

## Validity

Validity refers to the ability of an instrument to measure the attributes of the construct under study (133).

## Instruments

In spring 2013, an updated version of the ICHD-III beta was published. The classification of TTH remained the same as in version II, which is the version used in our studies. Based on the classification, the diagnostic procedures for the children were standardised for all inclusion/exclusion procedures.

The various instruments used in the study were selected based on evidence of their validity. Devices used for measurements were calibrated before and during use.

Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory, PedsQL<sup>TM</sup>4.0, was from varies studies reported valid in translation, valid and reliable in relation to feasibility, internal consistency estimates of reliability and construct validity, ensuring that the instrument is useful to the group of participants, capable of comparing patient groups, and able to measure the construct intended (112-114). Additionally Connelly et al. 2014 (134) examined PedsQL<sup>TM</sup> in a group of children with recurrent headache for internal consistency of reliability, criterion-related validity, construct validity and responsiveness. The results were found valid and reliable for this group.

## Validity in trials

Validity in clinical trials refers to internal and external validity and to errors in hypothesis testing, which is described in the following.

## Internal validity

Internal validity in clinical trials refers to the ability of the researcher to attribute differences in the groups or participants to the independent variable. Threats to the internal validity are sources of alternative explanations for the outcome of the investigation (135). Possible threats to the internal validity are maturation, history, testing/ instrumentation, regression to the mean, selection bias and dropouts (135).

In studies with children, *maturation* is a possible threat as children grow and develop throughout the research period. This uncontrollable factor was dealt with

using statistical methods that adjust for age and BMI. Natural improvement of the headache condition may also account for some of the effects (135). As a result, the influence of time was analysed with regard to results.

*History* refers to natural changes over time in every day habits that families might have develop during the research period that can affect the outcome of the study (135). Although this threat can partly be dealt with via information, it is inherently uncontrollable.

Threats to validity may also be changes in the interventions over time in the organisation or undesired diffusion between interventions (111). In the present studies, great effort was made to counteract changes over time using controlling instruments, such as electronic journals and booking systems, and by continuously providing all involved personnel with continuous oral and written information.

Threats from *testing and instrumentation* were opposed based on thorough pilot experiments, test-retest examinations and calibrations. *Regression to the mean* refers to the phenomenon in which participants are selected for treatment for their high/low value of a certain variable. When the measure is repeated some time later, the average value of the subgroup at second reading is less/higher (12). In the present studies, both treatment group and controls have high values of headache and the headache was continuously monitored daily. Regression to the mean is therefore less relevant for the primary outcome variable, but might be considered for the secondary variables, such as muscle strength and aerobic power testing. It was countered by standardised procedures.

*Selections bias* occurs when study participants are not representative of the population the study refers to (12). Furthermore, the participants involved might differ from those who did not want to participate, or those who are lost to follow up might differ from those who are not.

Inclusion of healthy controls for study II and III followed health ethics committee guidelines in order not to put any pressure on the families. After being provided with written information, families had to independently actively respond to the researcher. One weakness to this approach is that socioeconomically advantaged families were perhaps more likely to respond.

Soee et al. (57), who divided families with a child with headache into five categories based on education and work status, found that 46.8% of them land in the two highest categories and 14.2% land in the middle. Participants in the present studies were drawn from the same clinic and area of Copenhagen, so the match of healthy controls was considered acceptable.

*Dropout* or lost to follow up are reported in detail, and a modified intention to treat analysis is reported to counteract possible influences.

The use of *a control group* helped ensure internal validity in study IV. According to the Declaration of Helsinki (130) placebo control groups are only recommended if no proven treatment can be controlled against. Group B in study IV was considered the control group and an 'established intervention' proven to be effective in the treatment of children in the same tertiary clinic (57). In accordance with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (19), prioritising the safety and well-being of the child excludes the use of a wait-list control group. Due to the seriousness of the ethical issues concerned, our interventions involve a complex combination of various health care professionals at different organisational levels. Because our studies also targeted families with a variety of behavioural cultures and expectations; hence, the possibility that some of them might receive diverging information from the staff or that a diffusion between intervention groups might occur. Controlling for these human factors was essential and was supported by continuous verbal and written information materials, by checking electronic booking systems and by writing in the electronic journals.

Thus, the complexity of the interventions posed a challenge with regard to the hypothetico-deductive methodology due to the difficulty involved in isolating the 'active ingredients'. Therefore focusing on who accomplished what, from which intervention may be useful. After consulting guidelines for complex interventions (111), we examined and piloted the feasibility of testing and interventions and assessed their effectiveness. For future research, examining the process of change and the cost-effectiveness of interventions is recommended. With the exception of study I we did not examine how information was received and perceived by child and parents in study IV and therefore have no data on what knowledge they gained from patient education.

### External validity

External validity refers to the degree to which the results from the study are generalisable to the population of interest (12). International guidelines from the American Headache Society, (110), STROBE and CONSORT statements (108, 109) and guidelines for complex interventions (111) were closely adhered to in order to improve the quality of trials to secure both internal and external validity and repeatability.

## Repeatability

Repeatability of a measurement refers to the variation in repeat measurements with the same participant under identical conditions. Reproducibility refers to the variation in measurement with a participant under changing conditions (136). Study II, which is a repeatability study, confirms the foundation of study III and IV and relates to the auxiliary hypotheses.

## Errors in hypothesis testing

As decisions are based on a sample, errors might occur. The maximum possibility of type I error is set by the level of significance of 0.05 in the present studies, which means that we reject the null hypothesis if the p-value of results are  $\leq 0.05$ . The type I error ( $\alpha$ ) represents the possibility of falsely rejecting a true H<sub>0</sub> equivalent, the rate of false positive (12).

The chance of type II ( $\beta$ ) errors is related to the rate of false negatives. Power (1- $\beta$ ) is the probability of correctly rejecting a false H<sub>0</sub> and thereby correctly finding a real significant difference in treatment effects (12).

## Factors affecting power

The *sample size* affects the power in the way that the power increases with increasing size. As a result, the power calculations were essential when preparing the studies, even though they were preliminary as only preliminary data were available for calculation. The *variability* of repeated testing, as examined and reported in study II, affected the power and is responsible for the uncertainty in the power analysis.

The *size of effect* affects the power in such a way that the larger effect, the greater power. The chance of detecting a large difference is greater than detecting a small difference (12).

The *significance level* affects the power. The larger the level, the greater the power. For example, a decrease in significance level requires a larger sample.

The power analysis in the present studies was based on a p-value of  $\leq 0.05$  and power (1- $\beta$ ) at 80% with an expected difference at 40%. Multiple testing or subgroup analyses were deselected in the studies in order not to affect power by devaluating the p-value (12). As a result, no adjustments for multiple testing were applied.

# General discussion of results

This section discusses the results and interprets them within the frame of Empowering Patient Education (EPE).

### Primary characteristics and outcomes

Results from this thesis indicate that girls with frequent episodic or chronic TTH present measurable deficits in physical health associated with headache. Our study is the first to measure a girl's physical status, such as muscle strength and aerobic power, in combination with HRQOL self-reports. These reports indicate the difficulties experienced with physical health, emotional health and school functioning, which supports the studies' measured outcomes. Our findings correspond with Kaczynski et al.'s study (54), which reported school difficulties in children with TTH, and with Strine et al.'s (14), which reported attention difficulties in school. These self-reports highlight an area that needs to be further explored. The 24 months follow-up in HRQOL self-reports is not included in this thesis as data collection is still ongoing. According to Kaczynski et al. (54) children with TTH tend to choose passive coping strategies, and their parents more protective patterns. Consequently, patient education should empower the child and parents to practice active coping strategies to enhance the child's health status.

Studying the outcomes from interactive interventions the results from study I indicated that computer animated relaxation therapy with nine individual sessions seemed a significantly effective learning strategy. Results from study IV showed that both strength training and interdisciplinary counselling had a significant outcome in reduced headache frequency and duration. As both relaxation therapy and strength training present a reduction in headache as well as enhanced body awareness, the use of these interventions should be determined by the physiotherapist, the child and the parents after an evaluation of the child's individual needs. These results correspond with Söderberg et al.'s (88) findings for adults with TTH. Combining these approaches with counselling by nurse will provide positive outcomes.

Study IV showed that headache in the girls was either absent or very low in intensity when the testing took place. We did not examine day variation, but we know that most of the tests were conducted before noon or early pm. These observations indicate that headache increases in daytime, with the highest intensity later in the day, which might be related to day stressors or tiredness, as reported by Connelly (81).

### **Secondary outcomes**

In study I the TTS decreased significantly in the children with frequent TTH together with a decrease in headache frequency. The group, however, was small and not controlled. As a result, these results need to be supported by more studies. In study IV the pericranial tenderness significantly increased as measured by the TTS. Increased tenderness is believed to arise from persistent headache and increased sensitivity (67). Consequently, we anticipated that tenderness would decease with a reduction in headache. The present result was interpreted as being due to measurement variation, which is why the TTS must be examined further, possibly with the use of a modern palpometer. The lack of reduction in tenderness might underscore that recovery from a chronic headache situation has a prolonged perspective.

There was an indication of a change in the muscle balance over neck and shoulder from both interventions, possibly because of changes in posture due to strength training and body awareness exercises. Strength training also showed the potential to increase strength and oxygen uptake, but the results might indicate that change in muscle balance precedes gain in strength for the girls with TTH. Faigenbaum et al. point out that if the children's prerequisite motor skills have developmental deficits, it might interfere with the results from strength training (137). The exercise intensity versus exercise variation should be considered in order to keep a stable weekly volume.

The counselling empowered the individual family to practice self-care but the outcomes in muscle strength and aerobic strength were minor, in spite of the fact that the families in counselling had made shared suggestions about how the child could be more physically active. We know that the families were working with a variety of lifestyle topics and that change in habitual physical activity may be challenging. Biddle and Mutrie (138) list the determinants for change in being physically active as knowledge, motivation, self-efficacy and attitudes, which are also the areas the patient education in our studies targeted. Aujoulat et al. (34) conclude that empowerment in patient education may be viewed from both a patient-provider interactive process and an intra-personal process. Based on the present studies, we can add the interactive process between parents and child. These perspectives need further study and should be incorporated when considering innovative approaches to patient education.

## **Results and empowering patient education, EPE**

This thesis emphasises the need to examine the factors that support or limit the outcome of patient education. Based on work by Leino-Kilpi (36), Tables 8a-8b, below, lists the EPE dimensions, in addition to highlighting its outcomes, possible barriers and future needs as modified for children. A child's motor skill competencies and physical activity habits are learned behaviours developed in the context of the family, school and other environments (137). The practice of self-care are to be incorporated into the family's every day life. The parents and family therefor play an important role to fulfil the child's needs as well as their own.

| Dimension         | Meaning   |
|-------------------|---|
| Bio-physiological | The child is empowered when they know about headache and bodily<br>needs and can act on them; able to act in the manner they wish to control<br>the problem |
| Cognitive         | The child is empowered when they interact in the learning situation and understand the knowledge provided   |
| Functional        | The child is empowered when they know their functional ability and can act on it; able to act in the manner they wish to control the problem.               |
| Social            | The child is empowered by being able to keep or have a social network   |
| Experiential      | The child is empowered if earlier experience to manage can be used  |
| Ethical           | The child is empowered when they can act based on their own values and are respected by others due to the right to autonomy                                 |
| Financial         | The family is empowered when it can manage the situation financially or in time   |

**Table 8a.** EPE dimensions for the child

| Dimension              | Outcome   | Possible barriers  | Future needs   |
|------------------------|---|--|--|
| Bio-physio-<br>logical | Age-specific material was<br>well received; The child<br>learned to manage a concrete<br>exercise program supported<br>by visual material. The child<br>managed to reduce headache.   | The child does not understand;<br>intensity of exercises is too<br>small or variation decreases<br>volume; parents lack<br>knowledge or are too busy to<br>give support; family or school<br>environment does not support<br>the child's possible control. | Dose-response relationship to<br>exercising with children with<br>TTH needs to be examined;<br>Accomplished knowledge<br>should be examined; more<br>information should be digital<br>and easily accessible that<br>addresses both child and<br>parents. |
| Cognitive              | Self-reports revealed<br>emotional and school<br>functioning difficulties;<br>children learned to exercise<br>or use relaxation techniques<br>with age-specific interactive<br>methods.   | Knowledge, expectations and<br>social culture in the family<br>have influence; material or<br>environment does not call for<br>the interest of the child;<br>the child does not understand.  | The child's cognitive level and<br>competences should be<br>considered; incorporating<br>electronic devices in learning;<br>consider environmental issues;<br>school difficulties need to be<br>examined.  |
| Functional             | Girls with TTH had deficits<br>in both measured and<br>experienced physical<br>functioning; The girls<br>managed to reduce headache<br>and enhance physical skills.<br>Over nine sessions of<br>relaxation therapy the child<br>managed body awareness<br>and a sense of control. | The child and parents do not<br>know or do not recognise the<br>child's functional level; there is<br>limited physical social<br>behaviour in the family or<br>school; There is a limited<br>culture for stress regulation in<br>the family or school.     | The child and parents need<br>more knowledge about active<br>coping strategies; families need<br>to learn to play/be physically<br>active <i>together</i> ; and to know<br>why this is important.<br>Electronic devices can be used<br>outdoors.         |
| Social                 | Drop-outs were explained by<br>perceived lack of time and or<br>motivation.   | Knowledge, expectations and<br>social culture in relation to<br>child, parents and family<br>influence.  | Support play/physical social<br>behaviours within the child's<br>network; both child and<br>parents' motivation and<br>barriers for change need to be<br>examined.   |
| Experiential           | Earlier exercise or body experiences were used.   | Earlier experiences related to more passive coping strategies.   | More knowledge about active<br>strategies should be available<br>digitally or online.  |
| Ethical                | The child interacted in a learning situation when addressed age appropriately.  | The parents or professional act on behalf of the child.  | Sessions without the parents might promote the child's ability for self efficacy.  |
| Financial              | Time in the organisation and the parents were limited.  | Time limits are too narrow to support participation, learning and outcomes.  | More online or digital material;<br>additional socially informative<br>events for children and parents.  |

| Table 8b. El | PE dimensions, | outcomes, | possible | barriers | and future | needs |
|--------------|----------------|-----------|----------|----------|------------|-------|
|              |                |           |          |          |            |       |

Interpreting the results within the frame of EPE shows that the interventions and materials used in the studies were relevant and suitable for for the participating children 7-18 years. The children managed to participate and learned to use the active techniques and strategies. The children's compliance was good, and even young children below the age of 13 took responsibility for their situation and were empowered, if allowed.

Barriers for outcomes were hypothesised to be related to the knowledge the participating children and parents imply about headache and associated factors. Barriers likewise seemed to relate to the ability to maintain or progress with physical activities in daily life, where limited time was frequently perceived as a barrier. Barriers may therefore be present in the contemporary family behavioural culture and structure. Likewise, the organisation of patient education may be a barrier that needs to be developed and adapted to suit contemporary families.

Empowering dimensions for the child with TTH are provided in Figure 6. The figure illustrates those dimensions that include the results and appeared essential for the child's knowledge and skills. Figure 7 provides dimensions of parents' possible future needs.



# General conclusions

In this thesis, the physical factors associated with frequent and chronic TTH in girls are presented. The results highlight that physiotherapy plays a central role in headache services, providing evidence of interactive interventions with a potential to reduce headache significantly and to teach children strategies to enhance health-related physical factors and awareness and thus their quality of life. Physiotherapy is seen as working in combination with interdisciplinary counselling.

The main conclusions are that:

- Reduced neck-shoulder strength and aerobic power combined with increased pericranial tenderness are associated with TTH in girls.
- Specific strength training has the potential to reduce headache and increase measured physical outcomes, such as strength and  $VO_2max$ . The results indicate that it is important to consider the weekly volume when exercises are varied. The dose response of exercising with girls with TTH needs to be researched further.
- Relaxation techniques supported by age-relevant pictogrammes and computer animations with a physiotherapist as a participant observer resulted in significant headache reductions and learned headache control. The intervention is time consuming but superior. More knowledge is needed about psychosocial stressors in children and their ability to cope.
- Counselling provided by a nurse and a physiotherapist resulted in significant headache reduction. It also led to a limited change in measured physical outcomes, such as strength and VO<sub>2</sub>max. Motivation for change and the barriers the contemporary family might experience in order to integrate learning and change habitual physical behaviours by counselling need to be examined for both children and parents.
- Results from strength training and counselling for girls with TTH showed a change in muscle balance over the neck. Muscle balance may precede strength gains in children with TTH. Prerequisite motor skills need to be considered in physiotherapy with children with TTH.
Perceived lack of time and/ or motivation constrained inclusion and caused dropouts. Looking at the organisation of patient education in an innovative manner is recommended to further reach the contemporary family. Patient education about headache and active strategies targeting both boys and girls in different age groups and their parents could be available digitally or online. Informative social events for parents and children could likewise be a possible option to enhance knowledge and reduce the use of time and costs.

# Recommendations and future perspectives

Physiotherapy plays a central and relevant position in headache services with a core aspect of patient education in relaxation techniques, strength training and aerobic fitness.

Modified relaxation therapy supported by easily accessible material with exercise using text or pictograms can be recommended. Computer animated bio-feedback is time consuming but superior, if the child has a habitually active daily life.

Recommendations for future strength training involving children with TTH need to be supported by further research. Results from this thesis support that guidelines for strength training and children should be followed. A variety of three to four exercises at a time seems appropriate for children to be able to self-manage. Alternating the exercise between trainings sessions should be considered because too much variation seems to decrease the weekly volume. Keeping the training intensity as high as possible without compromising exercise quality appears to be important in order to achieve physically measurable effects. A physiotherapist must adjust training to the child and incorporate an evaluation of possible developmental exercise deficits. Physiotherapists can work to find new ways of improving the motivation of children to engage in active coping strategies with and not despite electronic devices in order to counteract a sedentary lifestyle.

This thesis suggests that a combined interdisciplinary approach that includes relaxation therapy or strength training with physiotherapist will result in positive outcomes. When a lack of time is a hindrance for both the health care staff and families, supplementary digital learning could be a solution to allow families to receive the needed information about headache, pain mechanisms and active coping strategies when it suits their daily schedules. Additional socially informative events for child and family on how to empower socially physical health behaviours are a possible option for limiting the amount of sessions necessary while simultaneously supporting interactive learning.

It will be necessary to examine the needs of contemporary families, children and parents, the knowledge gained and the barriers they face in order to reinvent social or interactive physical behaviours for the benefit of the child's health and well-being.

#### Summary in Danish

Børn og især piger med spændingshovedpine (på engelsk tension-type headache, TTH) har en høj forekomst på verdensplan og betyder for børnene en risiko for skolefravær, medicin over forbrug og vedvarende hovedpine. Den viden, der findes om fysiske faktorers sammenhæng med hovedpine, er begrænset, ligesom viden og dokumentation for interventioner er det.

Det overordnede mål med denne tese var at undersøge de fysiske faktorer, som har en sammenhæng med hyppig eller kronisk spændingshovedpine hos børn. Endvidere at undersøge aspekter af interaktive interventioner som empowerment i patient uddannelse, for at undersøge hvad og hvordan vi bør planlægge den interdisciplinære hovedpine service for barnet og forældrene set fra et fysioterapeutisk perspektiv.

Det første studie undersøgte i et pilotstudie computeranimeret afspændingsterapi med børn 7-13 år og hvordan så unge børn oplevede terapien. Endvidere undersøgte det inklusions procedurer, barnet and forældrenes compliance samt estimerede om et større controlleret studie kunne lade sig gøre. Det andet studie havde til formål at bestemme test-retest repeterbarheden af muskel styrke variabler for nakke og skulder hos raske børn 9-18 år. Endvidere at bestemme test-retest repeterbarheden af Total Tenderness Score (TTS) og af en sub maksimal cykel ergometer test som estimerede maksimal oxygen optag. Det tredje studie var et case-control studie, som havde til formål at undersøge kombinerede målinger af muskelstyrke i nakke-skulder region, aerobic power, and perikraniel ømhed hos piger 9 til 18 år og sammenhængen med hyppig eller kronisk spændingshovedpine sammenlignet med raske kontroller. Det fjerde studie var et RCT studie som undersøgte resultaterne af specifik styrketræning af skulderens muskler til sammenligning med samtaler og vejledning med fysioterapeut og sygeplejerske i korte definerede patient uddannelses forløb for piger 9-18 år med TTH.

Resultaterne fra studie I viste at et 9 sessioners kursus i computer-animeret afspændingsterapi er en signifikant effektfuld lærings strategi som viste en middel forbedringsprocent på 45% på hovedpinehyppighed og øget krops opmærksomhed. Børnene udtrykte en begyndende forståelse for kroppens mulige reaktioner og lærte sig at deaktivere og regulere disse reaktioner Studiet klargjorde også inklusions procedurer and klinikkens kapacitet med henblik på planlægning af det større studie. Resultaterne fra studie II viste acceptable analyser for repeterbarhed og var dermed et stabilt grundlag for studierne III og IV. De vigtigste fund i studie III var, at piger med TTH er signifikant mere ømme end raske kontroller og ømheden er korreleret med hovedpine frekvensen (r=0.66, p<0.001). Resultaterne viste også en signifikant association mellem reduceret nakke-skulder styrke og hovedpine. Endvidere sås en significant association mellem reduceret estimeret VO2max og hovedpine. I studie IV viste pigernes selv-rapporterede sundheds-relaterede livskvalitet, at de oplevede vanskeligheder i fysisk sundhed, følelses-mæssig sundhed og skolefunktion. Resultaterne viste en signifikant reduktion af hovedpinefrekvens og varighed af både styrketræning og vejledning uden signifikante forskelle på de to interventioner. I løbet af 22 uger fik 33% af pigerne en hovedpine reduktion på  $\geq$ 30% and 26% på  $\geq$ 50%. Begge grupper opnåede efter øvelser og kropsbevidsthed en signifikant reduktion i nakke ekstensions/fleksions ratio. Styrke træningen viste potentiale til at øge både muskelstyrke og oxygen optag. En oplevelse af tidspres og manglende motivation begrænsede patient indtaget og var årsag til frafald.

Som konklusion peger resultaterne på, at fysioterapi har en central rolle i hovedpine service i at undervise børnene i strategier, der kan bedre sundhedsrelaterede fysiske faktorer og opmærksomhed på kroppen, reducere hovedpine og dermed også højne livskvalitet. Styrketræning eller afspændings terapi i kombination med interdisciplinær samtale og vejledning vil føre til positive resultater. Da både afspændingsterapi og styrketræning viste signifikante resultater bør brugen af disse interventioner afvejes i et samarbeide mellem fysioterapeut, barn og forældre og vurderes på basis af barnets individuelle behov. Når vi evaluerer resultaterne i forhold til en 'empowering patient education' teorimodel kan vi konkludere, at de interventioner og materialer, som blev anvendt, var relevante og tilpassede børn 7-18 år. Det anbefales at overveje forholdet mellem ugentlig øvelses intensitet og øvelses variation for at holde et stabilt ugentligt træningsvolumen. Motivation for forandring og de barrierer, som den nutidige familie måtte opleve i forhold til at integrere det lærte og ændre vaner for fysisk aktivitet i hverdagen bør undersøges nærmere. Det foreslås, at man med et innovativt sigte reviderer patient uddannelsen og dens organisering, således at den i højere grad er tilpasset den nutidige familie. Denne tese præsenterer de dimensioner af empowerment som er væsentlige i forhold til børn med TTH og deres forældre.

## Acknowledgements

This thesis for the degree of Doctorate was carried out at the Department of Health Sciences, Lund University, Sweden. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has had played a part in this project. In particular, I would like to thank the following people

- All the participants, children and parents who took the time to participate, especially in the testing. Thank you to everyone who wanted to stand up for society, as one of the girls expressed it. A special thanks to the children who gave me the permission to show their photos out in the world.
- Professor Inger Hallström, my main supervisor, for giving me the opportunity to do these studies and for always making me feel comfortable about my progress. Thank you for always being there with your gentle guidance and excellent group leadership.
- Professor Gunvor Gard, my co-supervisor, for giving me the opportunity to do these studies and for always offering constructive and supportive guidance. I have enjoyed your enthusiasm and benefitted from your extensive experience with physiotherapy research.
- The Child, Family & Reproductive Health research group for providing me with expertise and constructive feedback on my papers. Thanks for all the fun; I enjoyed every moment.
- Dr med Liselotte Skov, also a co-supervisor, for friendly, generous support from the very beginning and for giving me the opportunity to do this project. Thank you for always being there when I needed you.
- The headache team and especially Susanne Munck, head of the headache clinic, for supporting inclusion to the studies.
- The Danish Headache Centre and especially Professor Rigmor Jensen for constructive critique, mentoring and professional assistance. And for allowing all the testing to take place at the centre.
- The National Research Centre for the Working Environment for the collaboration. With special thanks to Professor Lars L Andersen and Senior researcher Jørgen H Skotte for all help.

- Hanne Andresen, research assistant, for conducting the multiple testing of all the children and for being so experienced and reliable.
- Christian Tilsted, Pernille Hansen, May Bang and Marianne Villadsen, formerly nursing and physiotherapy students, for assisting me all the way through the testing. I wish you the best of luck in your lives and careers.
- The PT's at the Danish Headache Centre, Bjarne K. Madsen and Lotte Krøll, for collaboration and constructive discussions.
- Nurses Anne Bjørnstrup, Ea Lund, Lone Aaslet and Bente Risager for taking professional responsibility and for always trying to do your best for the sake of the patients and the studies.
- The Paediatric Department, Herlev Hospital for supporting me the entire way, with a special thanks to the department heads Dr med Eva Mosfeldt Jeppesen and Karsten Hjelt.
- The Physiotherapy Department/ Department of Medicine O, Herlev Hospital for their support, with a special thank you to the head PT, Hanne Forbeck Skall, and team leader PT Joan Elling Christensen.
- Statistical consultant Claus Jensen for his immense patience and backing me up whole way through.
- Ann-Britt Langager Søe for constructive collaboration and support in our research team.
- Nancy Aaen for participating in the editing process, and always being incredibly professional and quick.
- Anna Blomgren for a constructive course on how to graphically present my thesis.
- To my family, my daughter Trine and my son Toke, and my two daughter-inlaws, Karin and Anja. You are always supportive with your love and good humour and I wish you the best in your lives and careers.

The studies were supported by grants from Master Carpenter Jørgen Holm and Wife Elisa F. Hansen's Memorial Trust; the Beckett-Foundation; the Lundbeck Foundation; the Axel Muusfeldt Foundation; the Dagmar Marshall Foundation; the European Movement/V Foundation, TrygFonden, Department of Paediatrics E, University Hospital Herlev and the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University.

### **Reference** List

- 1. Åstrand PO, Rodahl, K., Dahl, H.A., Strømme, S.B. Textbook of Work Physiology; Physiological Bases of Exercise. 4th ed: Canada; 2003.
- 2. Bland M. An introduction to medical statistics. 3rd ed: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 3. Academy of Pediatrics. Family Pediatrics: Report of the Task Force on the Family Pediatrics. 2003:1511-41.
- 4. WHO. World Health Organization; 2012; Available from: www.WHO.int.
- 5. Odell S, Logan DE. Pediatric pain management: the multidisciplinary approach. J Pain Res. 2013;6:785-90.
- 6. Pallant J. SPSS Survival Manual. 4th ed: Open University Press, McGraw-Hill Education; 2010.
- Powers SW, Patton SR, Hommel KA, Hershey AD. Quality of life in paediatric migraine: characterization of age-related effects using PedsQL 4.0. Cephalalgia. 2004 Feb;24(2):120-7.
- 8. WHO. WHO Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health 2011. 2011; Available from: www.who.int/topics/physical\_activity.
- 9. WHO. Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health. 2004; Available from: www.Who.int/dietphysicalactivity.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985 Mar-Apr;100(2):126-31.
- 11. WCPT. World Confederation for Physical Therapy; 2011; Available from: www.wcpt.org.
- 12. Petrie A SC. Medical Statistics at a Glance. 3.ed ed: Blackwell Publishing; 2009.
- Anttila P, Metsahonkala L, Aromaa M, Sourander A, Salminen J, Helenius H, et al. Determinants of tension-type headache in children. Cephalalgia. 2002 Jun;22(5): 401-8.
- Strine TW, Okoro CA, McGuire LC, Balluz LS. The associations among childhood headaches, emotional and behavioral difficulties, and health care use. Pediatrics. 2006 May;117(5):1728-35.
- 15. Jensen R, Bendtsen L, Olesen J. Muscular factors are of importance in tension-type headache. Headache. 1998 Jan;38(1):10-7.
- 16. Bendtsen L. Central sensitization in tension-type headache-possible pathophysiological mechanisms. Cephalalgia. 2000 Jun;20(5):486-508.

- Fernandez-de-Las-Penas C, Fernandez-Mayoralas DM, Ortega-Santiago R, Ambite-Quesada S, Gil-Crujera A, Fernandez-Jaen A. Bilateral, wide-spread, mechanical pain sensitivity in children with frequent episodic tension-type headache suggesting impairment in central nociceptive processing. Cephalalgia. 2010 Sep;30(9):1049-55.
- Persson J, Sahlin, N-E. Vetenskapsteori för Sanningssökare. 120819 D, editor: None; 2012.
- 19. UN. Convention on the Rights of the Child. www.unicef.org/crc; 1989.
- 20. Bibace R, Walsh ME. Development of children's concepts of illness. Pediatrics. 1980 Dec;66(6):912-7.
- 21. Koopman H.M. BRM, Chaplin J., Zwinderman K.H. Illness through the eyes of the child: the development of children's understanding of the causes of illness. Patient Ecucation and Counseling. [Original]. 2004;55:363-70.
- 22. Hallstrom I, Elander G. Decision making in paediatric care: an overview with reference to nursing care. Nurs Ethics. 2005 May;12(3):223-38.
- 23. Andrasik F, Powers SW, McGrath PJ. Methodological considerations in research with special populations: children and adolescents. Headache. 2005 May;45(5): 520-5.
- IASP. Pain. International Association for the Study of Pain 2012; Available from: http://www.iasp-pain.org.
- 25. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society I. The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 2nd Cephalalgia. 2004; Volume 24 (Supplement 1):39-41.
- 26. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society I. The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition (beta version). Cephalalgia. 2013;33(9):629-808.
- 27. Truax CB, Carkhuff, R. Toward Effective Counseling and Psychotherapy: Training and Practice. Chicago: Transaction Publishers; 2008.
- 28. Deccache A, Aujoulat I. A European perspective: common developments, differences and challenges in patient education. Patient Educ Couns. 2001 Jul;44(1):7-14.
- 29. Steiner TJ ME, Davies PTG. BASH Guidelines. 3rd ed ed: British Association for the Study of Headache; 2007.
- Feudtner C. What are the goals of patient education? West J Med. 2001 Mar;174(3):173-4.
- 31. Kuokkanen L, Leino-Kilpi H. Power and empowerment in nursing: three theoretical approaches. J Adv Nurs. 2000 Jan;31(1):235-41.
- 32. Gibson CH. A concept analysis of empowerment. J Adv Nurs. 1991 Mar;16(3): 354-61.
- 33. Foucault M. The Birth of the Clinic. 9th ed: Routledge; 2010.
- 34. Aujoulat I, d'Hoore W, Deccache A. Patient empowerment in theory and practice: polysemy or cacophony? Patient Educ Couns. 2007 Apr;66(1):13-20.
- 35. Rappaport J. Studies in Empowerment: Introduction to the Issue: Haworth press; 1984.

- Leino-Kilpi H, Luoto E, Katajisto J. Elements of empowerment and MS patients. J Neurosci Nurs. 1998 Apr;30(2):116-23.
- Gibson CH. The process of empowerment in mothers of chronically ill children. J Adv Nurs. 1995 Jun;21(6):1201-10.
- 38. Bille BS. Migraine in school children. A study of the incidence and short-term prognosis, and a clinical, psychological and electroencephalographic comparison between children with migraine and matched controls. Acta Paediatr Suppl. 1962 May;136:1-151.
- 39. Repschlaeger BJ, McPherson MA. Classification, mechanisms, and management of headache. Clin Pharm. 1984 Mar-Apr;3(2):139-52.
- 40. Carlsson J. Prevalence of headache in schoolchildren: relation to family and school factors. Acta Paediatr. 1996 Jun;85(6):692-6.
- 41. Kroner-Herwig B, Heinrich M, Morris L. Headache in German children and adolescents: a population-based epidemiological study. Cephalalgia. 2007 Jun;27(6):519-27.
- 42. Ramdas S, Prasad M, Abu-Arafeh I. Primary headache disorders in children under 7 years of age. Scott Med J. 2013 Feb;58(1):26-9.
- Laurell K, Larsson B, Eeg-Olofsson O. Headache in schoolchildren: association with other pain, family history and psychosocial factors. Pain. 2005 Dec 15;119(1-3): 150-8.
- 44. Rho YI, Chung HJ, Lee KH, Eun BL, Eun SH, Nam SO, et al. Prevalence and Clinical Characteristics of Primary Headaches Among School Children in South Korea: A Nationwide Survey. Headache. 2011 Sep 19.
- Gassmann J, Morris L, Heinrich M, Kroner-Herwig B. One-year course of paediatric headache in children and adolescents aged 8-15 years. Cephalalgia. 2008 Nov;28(11):1154-62.
- 46. Arruda MA, Guidetti V, Galli F, Albuquerque RC, Bigal ME. Primary headaches in childhood--a population-based study. Cephalalgia. 2010 Sep;30(9):1056-64.
- 47. Ozge A, Sasmaz T, Cakmak SE, Kaleagasi H, Siva A. Epidemiological-based childhood headache natural history study: after an interval of six years. Cephalalgia. 2010 Jun;30(6):703-12.
- 48. Anttila P, Metsahonkala L, Sillanpaa M. Long-term trends in the incidence of headache in Finnish schoolchildren. Pediatrics. 2006 Jun;117(6):e1197-201.
- 49. Green BN, Johnson, C. D., Adams, A. Writing Narrative Literature Reviews for Peer-reviewed Journals: Secrets of the Trade. J Sports Chiropr Rehabil. 2001; 15:5-19.
- 50. Laurell K, Larsson B, Eeg-Olofsson O. Prevalence of headache in Swedish schoolchildren, with a focus on tension-type headache. Cephalalgia. 2004 May;24(5):380-8.
- 51. Silva Junior AA, Bigal M, Vasconcelos LP, Rodrigues J, Gomez RS, Krymchantowski AV, et al. Prevalence and burden of headaches as assessed by the health family program. Headache. 2012 Mar;52(3):483-90.
- 52. Unalp A, Dirik E, Kurul S. Prevalence and clinical findings of migraine and tensiontype headache in adolescents. Pediatr Int. 2007 Dec;49(6):943-9.

- Zwart JA, Dyb G, Holmen TL, Stovner LJ, Sand T. The prevalence of migraine and tension-type headaches among adolescents in Norway. The Nord-Trondelag Health Study (Head-HUNT-Youth), a large population-based epidemiological study. Cephalalgia. 2004 May;24(5):373-9.
- Kaczynski KJ, Claar RL, Lebel AA. Relations Between Pain Characteristics, Child and Parent Variables, and School Functioning in Adolescents With Chronic Headache: A Comparison of Tension-Type Headache and Migraine. J Pediatr Psychol. 2012 Dec 17.
- 55. Carlsson J, Larsson B, Mark A. Psychosocial functioning in schoolchildren with recurrent headaches. Headache. 1996 Feb;36(2):77-82.
- Anttila P, Sourander A, Metsahonkala L, Aromaa M, Helenius H, Sillanpaa M. Psychiatric symptoms in children with primary headache. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2004 Apr;43(4):412-9.
- Soee AB, Skov L, Skovgaard LT, Thomsen LL. Headache in children: Effectiveness of multidisciplinary treatment in a tertiary paediatric headache clinic. Cephalalgia. 2013 Jul 11.
- 58. Seshia SS, Abu-Arafeh I, Hershey AD. Tension-type headache in children: the Cinderella of headache disorders! Can J Neurol Sci. 2009 Nov;36(6):687-95.
- 59. Crystal SC, Robbins MS. Epidemiology of tension-type headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2010 Dec;14(6):449-54.
- 60. Oksanen A, Metsahonkala L, Anttila P, Aromaa M, Jappila E, Viander S, et al. Leisure activities in adolescents with headache. Acta Paediatr. 2005 May;94(5): 609-15.
- 61. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science. 1965 Nov 19;150(3699):971-9.
- 62. Melzack R. Evolution of the neuromatrix theory of pain. The Prithvi Raj Lecture: presented at the third World Congress of World Institute of Pain, Barcelona 2004. Pain Pract. 2005 Jun;5(2):85-94.
- 63. Bendtsen L. Central and peripheral sensitization in tension-type headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2003 Dec;7(6):460-5.
- 64. Soee AB, Thomsen LL, Kreiner S, Tornoe B, Skov L. Altered pain perception in children with chronic tension-type headache: is this a sign of central sensitisation? Cephalalgia. 2013 May;33(7):454-62.
- 65. Soee AB, Skov L, Kreiner S, Tornoe B, Thomsen LL. Pain sensitivity and pericranial tenderness in children with tension-type headache: a controlled study. J Pain Res. 2013;6:425-34.
- 66. Carlsson J. Tenderness of pericranial muscles in schoolchildren with headache. The Pain Clinic. 1996;9(1):49-56.
- 67. Bendtsen L, Fernandez-de-la-Penas C. The role of muscles in tension-type headache. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2011 Dec;15(6):451-8.
- 68. Willis WD, Jr. The somatosensory system, with emphasis on structures important for pain. Brain Res Rev. 2007 Oct;55(2):297-313.
- 69. Handwerker HO. [From Descartes to fMRI. Pain theories and pain concepts]. Schmerz. 2007 Aug;21(4):307-10, 12-7.

- 70. Sjøgaard G. Arbejdsfysiologi (bind I+II) basisbog. 1st ed: Arbejdstilsynet/Arbejdsmiljøinstituttet; 1995.
- 71. Willis WD, Westlund KN. Neuroanatomy of the pain system and of the pathways that modulate pain. J Clin Neurophysiol. 1997 Jan;14(1):2-31.
- 72. Clifford JW, Doubell TP. The pathophysiology of chronic pain-increased sensitivity to low threshold A -fibre inputs. Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 1994;4:525-34.
- 73. Meyer RA, Ringkamp M, Campbell JN, Raja SN. Peripheral mechanism of cutaneous nociception, in Textbook of Pain, chapter 1,: Elsevier; 2006.
- 74. Gaul C, Visscher CM, Bhola R, Sorbi MJ, Galli F, Rasmussen AV, et al. Team players against headache: multidisciplinary treatment of primary headaches and medication overuse headache. J Headache Pain. 2011 Oct;12(5):511-9.
- 75. Termine C, Ozge A, Antonaci F, Natriashvili S, Guidetti V, Wober-Bingol C. Overview of diagnosis and management of paediatric headache. Part II: therapeutic management. J Headache Pain. 2011 Feb;12(1):25-34.
- 76. Jensen R, Tassorelli C, Rossi P, Allena M, Osipova V, Steiner T, et al. A basic diagnostic headache diary (BDHD) is well accepted and useful in the diagnosis of headache. a multicentre European and Latin American study. Cephalalgia. 2011 Nov;31(15):1549-60.
- 77. Patrick J, McGrath, P.A., Unruh, A.M. Measurement and Assessment of paediatric pain, in Textbook of Pain, Chapter 19: Elsevier; 2006.
- Powell CV, Kelly AM, Williams A. Determining the minimum clinically significant difference in visual analog pain score for children. Ann Emerg Med. 2001 Jan;37(1):28-31.
- 79. Palermo TM, Valenzuela D, Stork PP. A randomized trial of electronic versus paper pain diaries in children: impact on compliance, accuracy, and acceptability. Pain. 2004 Feb;107(3):213-9.
- Lundqvist C, Clench-Aas J, Hofoss D, Bartonova A. Self-reported headache in schoolchildren: parents underestimate their children's headaches. Acta Paediatr. 2006 Aug;95(8):940-6.
- Connelly M, Bickel J. An electronic daily diary process study of stress and health behavior triggers of primary headaches in children. J Pediatr Psychol. 2011 Sep;36(8):852-62.
- 82. Varkey E, Hagen K, Zwart JA, Linde M. Physical activity and headache: results from the Nord-Trondelag Health Study (HUNT). Cephalalgia. 2008 Dec;28(12):1292-7.
- 83. Marselisborg Centret. International Klassifikation af funktionsevne, funktionsnedsættelse og helbredstilstand. 1st ed: The Danish Health Board; 2005.
- 84. Lenssinck ML, Damen L, Verhagen AP, Berger MY, Passchier J, Koes BW. The effectiveness of physiotherapy and manipulation in patients with tension-type headache: a systematic review. Pain. 2004 Dec;112(3):381-8.
- 85. Merleau-Ponty M. Kroppens Fænomenologi. 2nd ed: Det lille Forlag, Denmark; 2000.
- 86. Roxendal G, Winberg, A. Levande Människa. Basal Kroppskännedom för rörelse og vila. 1st ed: Natur og Kultur; 2002.
- 87. Dropsy J. Den harmoniske krop. En usynlig øvelse: Hans Reitzel; 1988.

- 88. Söderberg E. CJ, Stener-Victorin E. Chronic tension-type headache treated with acupuncture, physical training and relaxation training. Between-group differences. Cephalalgia. 2006;26:1320-9.
- Larsson B, Carlsson, J. A School-Based, Nurse-Administered Relaxation Training for Children with Chronic tension-Type Headache. Journal of Pediatric Psychology. 1996;21(5):603-14.
- 90. Jacobson E. Progressive relaxation. Chicago-Illinois: The University of Chicago Press; 1938.
- 91. Bernstein DA, Borkovec, T D. Progressive Relaxation Training. A Manual for the Helping Professions: Research Press; 1973.
- 92. Andrasik F, Grazzi L, Usai S, Bussone G. Pharmacological treatment compared to behavioural treatment for juvenile tension-type headache: results at two-year followup. Neurol Sci. 2007 May;28 Suppl 2:S235-8.
- 93. Bussone G, Grazzi L, D'Amico D, Leone M, Andrasik F. Biofeedback-assisted relaxation training for young adolescents with tension-type headache: a controlled study. Cephalalgia. 1998 Sep;18(7):463-7.
- 94. Gottschling S, Meyer S, Gribova I, Distler L, Berrang J, Gortner L, et al. Laser acupuncture in children with headache: a double-blind, randomized, bicenter, placebo-controlled trial. Pain. 2008 Jul 15;137(2):405-12.
- 95. Grazzi L, Andrasik F, D'Amico D, Leone M, Moschiano F, Bussone G. Electromyographic biofeedback-assisted relaxation training in juvenile episodic tension-type headache: clinical outcome at three-year follow-up. Cephalalgia. 2001 Oct;21(8):798-803.
- 96. Trautmann E, Kroner-Herwig B. A randomized controlled trial of Internet-based selfhelp training for recurrent headache in childhood and adolescence. Behav Res Ther. 2010 Jan;48(1):28-37.
- 97. von Stulpnagel C, Reilich P, Straube A, Schafer J, Blaschek A, Lee SH, et al. Myofascial trigger points in children with tension-type headache: a new diagnostic and therapeutic option. J Child Neurol. 2009 Apr;24(4):406-9.
- 98. Ortega FB, Ruiz JR, Castillo MJ, Sjostrom M. Physical fitness in childhood and adolescence: a powerful marker of health. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Jan;32(1):1-11.
- 99. Oksanen A, Metsähonkala L, Viander S, Jäppilä E, Aromaa M, Anttila P, et al. Strength and mobility of the neck-shoulder region in adolescent headache. Physiotherapy Theory and Practice. 2006;22(4):163-74.
- Oksanen A, Poyhonen T, Ylinen JJ, Metsahonkala L, Anttila P, Laimi K, et al. Force production and EMG activity of neck muscles in adolescent headache. Disabil Rehabil. 2008;30(3):231-9.
- Andersen LL, Holtermann A, Jorgensen MB, Sjogaard G. Rapid muscle activation and force capacity in conditions of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2008 Dec;23(10):1237-42.
- 102. Andersen LL, Mortensen OS, Zebis MK, Jensen RH, Poulsen OM. Effect of brief daily exercise on headache among adults--secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2011 Nov;37(6):547-50.
- 103. McCambridge TM, Stricker PR. Strength training by children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2008 Apr;121(4):835-40.

- 104. Faigenbaum A.D. MGD. Pediatric resistance training: benefits, Concerns, and program Considerations. Current Sports Medicine Reports. 2010;9(3):161-8.
- 105. Faigenbaum AD, Kraemer WJ, Blimkie CJ, Jeffreys I, Micheli LJ, Nitka M, et al. Youth resistance training: updated position statement paper from the national strength and conditioning association. J Strength Cond Res. 2009 Aug;23(5 Suppl):S60-79.
- 106. McArdle WD, Katch FI, Katch VL. Exercise Physiology, Nutrition, Energy and Human Performance. 7th ed. Baltimore: Wolters Kluwer/ Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2010.
- 107. Hammersley M, Atkinson P. Ethnography. Principles in practice. 2nd ed: Poutledge; 2000.
- 108. Strobe-group. STROBE-Statement. ISPM-University of Bern; 2009; Available from: www.strobe-statement.org.
- CONSORT g. CONSORT- Statement. 2010; Available from: http://www.consortstatement.org/consort-statement/.
- 110. Penzien DB, Andrasik F, Freidenberg BM, Houle TT, Lake AE, 3rd, Lipchik GL, et al. Guidelines for trials of behavioral treatments for recurrent headache, first edition: American Headache Society Behavioral Clinical Trials Workgroup. Headache. 2005 May;45 Suppl 2:S110-32.
- 111. MRC. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: new guidance. Medical Research Council; 2006; Available from: ww.mrc.uk/complexinterventionsguidance.
- 112. Varni JW, Seid M, Rode CA. The PedsQL: measurement model for the pediatric quality of life inventory. Med Care. 1999 Feb;37(2):126-39.
- 113. MPI. PedsQl TM. Mapi Research Institute, Lyon, France 2003; Available from: www.pedsql.org/pedql-liguistic-validation-guidelines.doc.
- 114. Varni JW, Seid M, Kurtin PS. PedsQL 4.0: reliability and validity of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory version 4.0 generic core scales in healthy and patient populations. Med Care. 2001 Aug;39(8):800-12.
- 115. Varni JW. The PedsQL TM, Measurement Model for the Pediatric Quality Inventory TM. www.pedsql.org; 1998-2012.
- 116. Cincinnati Children's Headache Center. PedMIDAS. 2010; Available from: www.cincinnatichildrens.org/service/h/headache-center/pedmidas/.
- 117. Hershey AD, Powers SW, Vockell AL, LeCates S, Kabbouche MA, Maynard MK. PedMIDAS: development of a questionnaire to assess disability of migraines in children. Neurology. 2001 Dec 11;57(11):2034-9.
- 118. Hershey AD, Powers SW, Vockell AL, LeCates SL, Segers A, Kabbouche MA. Development of a patient-based grading scale for PedMIDAS. Cephalalgia. 2004 Oct;24(10):844-9.
- 119. Grazzi L, D'Amico D, Usai S, Solari A, Bussone G. Disability in young patients suffering from primary headaches. Neurol Sci. 2004 Oct;25 Suppl 3:S111-2.
- Smits-Engelsman B, Klerks M, Kirby A. Beighton score: a valid measure for generalized hypermobility in children. J Pediatr. 2011 Jan;158(1):119-23, 23 e1-4.
- 121. Langemark M, Olesen J. Pericranial tenderness in tension headache. A blind, controlled study. Cephalalgia. 1987 Dec;7(4):249-55.

- Bendtsen L, Jensen R, Jensen NK, Olesen J. Muscle palpation with controlled finger pressure: new equipment for the study of tender myofascial tissues. Pain. 1994 Nov;59(2):235-9.
- Bendtsen L, Jensen R, Jensen NK, Olesen J. Pressure-controlled palpation: a new technique which increases the reliability of manual palpation. Cephalalgia. 1995 Jun;15(3):205-10.
- 124. Hermens HJ, Freriks B, Disselhorst-Klug C, Rau G. Development of recommendations for SEMG sensors and sensor placement procedures. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2000 Oct;10(5):361-74.
- 125. Holten O, Faugli HP. Medisinsk treningsterapi. 2nd ed. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget; 1994.
- 126. Faigenbaum AD, Loud RL, O'Connell J, Glover S, Westcott WL. Effects of different resistance training protocols on upper-body strength and endurance development in children. J Strength Cond Res. 2001 Nov;15(4):459-65.
- 127. Andersen LL, Saervoll CA, Mortensen OS, Poulsen OM, Hannerz H, Zebis MK. Effectiveness of small daily amounts of progressive resistance training for frequent neck/shoulder pain: randomised controlled trial. Pain. 2011 Feb;152(2):440-6.
- 128. Lexell J, Downham D. How to Assess the Reliability of Measurements in Rehabilitation. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2005;84:719-23.
- Herman A, Botser IB, Tenenbaum S, Chechick A. Intention-to-treat analysis and accounting for missing data in orthopaedic randomized clinical trials. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009 Sep;91(9):2137-43.
- 130. WMA. Declaration of Helsinki; Principles for Medical Research involving Human Subjects. www.wma.net; 2008 and 2013.
- 131. Popper K. The Logic of Scientific Discovery. 6th ed: Routledge; 2002.
- 132. Hempel C. The Test of a Hypothesis: Its logic and its Force in Philosophy of Natural Science1966.
- DeVon HA, Block ME, Moyle-Wright P, Ernst DM, Hayden SJ, Lazzara DJ, et al. A psychometric toolbox for testing validity and reliability. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2007;39(2):155-64.
- 134. Connelly M, Rapoff MA. Assessing health-related quality of life in children with recurrent headache: reliability and validity of the PedsQLTM 4.0 in a pediatric headache sample. J Pediatr Psychol. 2006 Aug;31(7):698-702.
- 135. Polgar S, Thomas, SA. Introduction to Research in Health Sciences. 4.th ed: Churchill Livingstone; 2000.
- Bartlett JW, Frost C. Reliability, repeatability and reproducibility: analysis of measurement errors in continuous variables. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2008 Apr;31(4):466-75.
- 137. Faigenbaum AD, Lloyd RS, Myer GD. Youth resistance training: past practices, new perspectives, and future directions. Pediatr Exerc Sci. 2013 Nov;25(4):591-604.
- 138. Biddle SJH, Mutrie N. Psychology of Physical Activity. Determinants, well-being and interventions. 2nd ed: Routledge; 2010.

| Studies                          | Partici-<br>pants<br>Age            | Country        | Design                                     | Prevalence<br>ETTH+FETTH/<br>CTTH in %                                | Mean onset<br>of headache        | Accompanying,<br>independent<br>symptoms/other<br>observations   |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------|--|---|----------------------------------|--|
| Anttila et al.<br>2002           | 1409<br>12 years                    | Finland        | Population-<br>based study*                | 12.2/ 0-1.6%<br>Both sexes  | 7.4 years                        | Photo/phonophobia,<br>abdominal pain,<br>neck-shoulder<br>symptoms,<br>depression,<br>oromandibular<br>dysfunction |
| Arruda et al.<br>2010            | 1994<br>5-12<br>years               | Brazil         | Population-<br>based study                 | Pooled ETTH,<br>FETTH and<br>probably TTH<br>Both sexes<br>17.4/0.05% | No report                        | High prevalence in pre-<br>adolescent children   |
| Gassmann<br>et al. 2008          | 3984<br>8-15 years                  | Germany        | Population-<br>based study*<br>Second wave | Overall TTH<br>27.1/ ?<br>Both sexes                                  | No report                        | Increased prevalence<br>with age and gender;<br>4% changed from TTH<br>to Migraine. 8% from<br>M to TTH            |
| Kröner-<br>Herwig et al.<br>2007 | 5586<br>7-14 years                  | Germany        | Population-<br>based study*                | 18.5%<br>Both sexes   | 7.5 years                        | Associated with<br>parental history of<br>headache   |
| Laurell et al.<br>2004           | 1850<br>7-15                        | Sweden         | Population-<br>based study                 | Overall TTH 9.8/0.1%  |                                  | Related to gender >13 years  |
| Ozge et al.<br>2010              | 1155<br>Mean<br>15.2 (1.1)<br>years | Turkey         | Population-<br>based follow-<br>up study   | 2003:<br>22.6/5.9%<br>2007: 57.5/11.1%<br>Both sexes                  | No report                        | Phonophobia;<br>history of parental<br>headache:<br>PedMidas >17 days<br>affect MOH                                |
| Rho et al.<br>2011               | 5039<br>6-18 years                  | South<br>Korea | Population-<br>based study                 | Female: 16.3/?<br>Male: 10.7/?<br>Overall:<br>13.7/ ?                 | Boys<br>10.4/girls<br>11.6 years | Prevalence higher in<br>urban areas<br>compared to suburban ;<br>related to age and<br>gender                      |
| Silva et al.<br>2012             | 1605<br>10-93<br>years              | Brazil         | Population-<br>based study                 | Overall TTH<br>22.9%<br>both sexes                                    | No report                        | Impact mostly on pain<br>and energy levels   |
| Strine et al.<br>2006            | 9264<br>4-17 years                  | USA            | Population-<br>based study                 | FSH 6.7% both sexes   | No report                        | Emotional ,<br>cognitive<br>and social difficulties  |
| Unalp et al.<br>2007             | 2384<br>14-18<br>years              | Turkey         | Population-<br>based study                 | 5.7%<br>both sexes  | No report                        | Associated with a family history of headache, fatigue, sleeplessness and anxiety                                   |
| Zwart et al.<br>2004             | 8255<br>13-18<br>years              | Norway         | Population-<br>based study                 | Female:<br>23.2%/0.5 -7.6%<br>Male: 12.5/0.5-<br>7.6%<br>Overall 18%  | No report                        | Related to gender  |

# **Table 2.** Studies examining 6\*-12-month prevalence in children with TTH worldwide from 2002-2013 using IHS/ICHD-II